# INTIMATE AND FAMILIAL MURDER: EXAMINING TRENDS IN DOMESTIC VIOLENCE HOMICIDES IN OKLAHOMA FROM 2010-2014

By

ASHLEY E. LAMOTHE

Bachelor of Arts in Anthropology

The University of West Florida

Pensacola, FL

2013

Submitted to the Faculty of the Graduate College of the Oklahoma State University in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Degree of MASTER OF SCIENCE July, 2016

# INTIMATE AND FAMILIAL MURDER:

# EXAMINING TRENDS IN DOMESTIC VIOLENCE

# HOMICIDES IN OKLAHOMA

# FROM 2010-2014

Thesis Approved:

Dr. Ron Thrasher

Thesis Adviser

Dr. Robert Allen

Dr. Mark Payton

### Name: ASHLEY LAMOTHE

#### Date of Degree: JULY, 2016

# Title of Study: INTIMATE AND FAMILIAL MURDER: EXAMINING TRENDS IN DOMESTIC VIOLENCE HOMICIDES IN OKLAHOMA FROM 2010-2014

### Major Field: FORENSIC SCIENCES

Abstract: Domestic violence homicides, particularly involving intimate partners, have been the subject of research for many decades. What has been lacking in the literature, however, is an in-depth comparison of the many types of relationships that fall under the umbrella definition for domestic violence. Such relationships include parents, siblings, grandparents, and other family members, as well as roommates. This study focuses on the trends and characteristics of the domestic violence homicides that occurred in the state of Oklahoma from January 2010 through December 2014. A total of 1318 homicides were reviewed and 368 were determined to meet the definition of domestic violence homicide. For this study, domestic violence is defined by Title 22 of the Oklahoma State Statutes in the Protection from Domestic Abuse Act. For each domestic violence case, several pieces of information were collected. Data collected were: demographics of the victim and offender, relationship between victim and offender, the mechanism of injury that caused the death, the number of injuries to the victim, drug or alcohol use by either the victim or offender, and the county where the death occurred. The collected variables were then analyzed using 2-way contingency tables and Pearson's chi-square to test significant associations between the variables. Significant association were found between: offender type and the sex of the offender, offender type and sex of the victim, offender type and race of the offender, race of the offender and mechanism of injury, offender's age and mechanism of injury, offender type and mechanism of injury, offender type and number of injuries to the victim, mechanism of injury and sex of the victim, mechanism of injury and race of the victim, mechanism of injury and age of the victim, offender type and drug and/or alcohol use of the victim or offender, and mechanism of injury and drug and/or alcohol use of the victim or offender. The conclusions in this study do not match those reported in recent studies on national data in aspects concerning mechanism of injury and perpetrator types. Furthermore, this study illustrates the prevalence of family homicides despite their exclusion from the literature on domestic violence.

# TABLE OF CONTENTS

Chapter	Page
I. INTRODUCTION	1
II. REVIEW OF LITERATURE	6
Definition and Categories of Domestic Violence	7
Intimate Partner Homicide	8
Child Homicide	10
Parricide	12
Siblicide	14
Domestic Violence Statistics	16
National Data	16
Oklahoma Data	16
Situational Factors	18
Demographics, Relationship, and Drug/Alcohol Use	18
Mechanism of Injury	19
Summary of Literature Review	20
	21
III. METHODOLOGY	21
Data Collection	
Creating a Workable Spreadsheet	
Recording Decedent Demographics	23
Determining Domestic or Non-Domestic Homicides	24
Identifying Cause of Death	25
Documenting Number of Injuries	
Recording Offender Demographics	
Reviewing Toxicology Reports	
Data Analysis	27
Obtaining Frequencies and Redefining Variables	27
Creating the Contingency Tables	
Summary of Methods.	

Chap	pter
------	------

IV. FINDINGS	
Breakdown of Total Results	
Domestic vs. Non-Domestic Homicides	
Demographics for Domestic Violence Homicides	
Relationship between Victim and Offender	
Drug and/or Alcohol Use by Victim or Offender	
Analyses of Relationship between Victim and Offender	
Association between Sex and Offender Type	
Association between Race and Offender Type	
Analyses of Mechanism of Injury Characteristics	40
Association between Mechanism of Injury and Offender Charact	eristics40
Association between Mechanism of Injury and Victim Character	istics42
Analyses of Drug and/or Alcohol Use	
Locations of Domestic Violence Homicides in Oklahoma	44
V. CONCLUSION	46
Comparison to Results from Prior Research	46
Intimate Partner Homicide	47
Child Homicide	47
Parricide	
Siblicide	
Mechanism of Injury	48
Limitations of Current Study	49
Future Investigations	
Summary	51
REFERENCES	
APPENDICES	56

# LIST OF TABLES

# Table

# Page

1-	Domestic Violence Relationship by Offender Type	25
2-	Original Classifications of Offender Types.	28
3-	Redefined Classifications of Offender Types	28
4-	Original Classifications of Mechanisms of Injury	29
5-	Redefined Classifications of Mechanisms of Injury	29
6-	Five Year Frequency of Homicides	33
7-	Ages of Victims in Domestic and Non-Domestic Homicides	35
8-	Offender Type Frequencies	37
9-	Most Common to Least Common Offender Profiles	39
10-	- Mechanism of Injury for Domestic Violence Offender Types	42
11-	- Rankings for Counties by Total Population and Domestic Violence Deaths	45

# LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	Page
1- Excerpt of Spreadsheet Used for Data Collection	
2- Line Chart Illustration of 5-Year Trend of Homicide Frequencies	

## **CHAPTER I**

#### **INTRODUCTION**

Outside of Oklahoma, the names David, April, Daniel, Christopher, and Victoria Bever might be heard without a second thought given to them. For Oklahomans, however, the names are recognized as those of the 5 victims brutally stabbed to death by 2 members of their own family--teenagers Michael and Robert Bever. On July 22, 2015, Michael and Robert stabbed their 5-year-old sister, 12- and 7-year-old brothers, and their mother and father to death. They also stabbed their 13-year-old sister, but she survived.<sup>1</sup> This tragedy is just one example of the dozens of domestic violence homicides that occur every year in the state of Oklahoma.<sup>2-5</sup>

Despite the continued occurrence of domestic violence homicides in the state, no correlative studies have been conducted to address underlying trends from the state's domestic homicide data. Such trends have the potential to be used in preventative measures because risk factors associated with these deaths can be identified.<sup>6</sup> The Oklahoma Domestic Violence Fatality Review Board (ODVFRB), as well as the Oklahoma Uniform Crime Report (UCR) publish annual statistics on domestic abuse homicides in the state. However, neither the ODVFRB nor the Oklahoma UCR include statistics that associate the multiple variables involved in these homicides.<sup>2-5, 7</sup> The definition of domestic violence encompasses many relationship types. According to the Protection from Domestic Abuse Act within Title 22 of the Oklahoma State Statutes, domestic abuse is defined as physical harm against a family or household member, including people currently or previously in an intimate relationship.<sup>8</sup> This definition includes grandparents, cousins, parent's boyfriends or girlfriends, and roommates, among many other domestic relationships. To fully understand the risk factors associated with domestic violence homicides, researchers would need to evaluate the homicide details for each of these relationship types. For instance, the correlations within domestic homicides where sons kill their parents may differ from the homicides where girlfriends kill their boyfriends.

Despite the numerous types of domestic violence relationships, very little research has examined the differences among them. The ODVFRB publications include statistics for all of the domestic violence relationship types; however, the reports focus on intimate partner violence and recommendations for the prevention of these crimes. While intimate partner violence is a large part of domestic violence homicides, even the ODVFRB reports illustrate that the other types of domestic violence homicides occur every year in significant numbers.

The ODVFRB report analyzing 1231 domestic violence deaths between 1998 and 2010, states that 44% of the deaths were related to intimate partner violence, and 45% were related to other family violence.<sup>2</sup> The 2011 report noted that intimate partner violence totaled 47% of the domestic violence deaths, while other family violence homicides accounted for 45%.<sup>3</sup> For 2012, intimate partner homicides accounted for 45% of domestic violence deaths, but the number of family homicides was not reported.<sup>4</sup> The most recent report on data from 2013 states that 48% of the homicides were committed by intimate partners and 46% were committed by family members.<sup>5</sup> The trends reported by the ODVFFRB thus show that domestic violence homicides committed by family members is close to the percentage committed by intimate partners, and even greater in some years.

As many studies in the literature on domestic violence have expressed, the only way that the public can begin to address these homicides is to understand the who, the what, and the how of these crimes. The answers needed are: who are the perpetrators of these crimes (relationship to the victim), what trends are associated with their occurrence (i.e. demographics of those involved, drug use, location), and how have these homicides occurred (mechanism of injury). Thus, the purpose of this study was to use data from the Oklahoma Chief Medical Examiner's Office database to examine and determine the association between the answers to these three main questions.

Other studies have examined offender characteristics, trends, and mechanism of injury within domestic violence homicides. For instance, one study compared the differences between domestic and non-domestic homicides committed by 115 male perpetrators. The authors discovered significant differences in the perpetrator's age between the two types of homicides and the mechanism of injury inflicted in these homicides.<sup>9</sup> Nonetheless, this study was limited to studying only adult male offenders and therefore did not include a wide range of the different types of domestic homicide. A study examining these trends with Oklahoma data was not found in a literature search.

As previously mentioned, many of the studies in the literature focus on intimate partner homicides. Most research aims to identify possible trends, such as how the mechanism of injury varied in intimate partner homicides in general<sup>10</sup> or the differences between intimate partner homicides as they are committed by men versus women.<sup>11</sup> Other studies have looked at victim characteristics, such as race and employment, to determine personal factors that might impact a woman's risk of becoming a victim of intimate partner violence.<sup>12</sup> Additionally, studies have examined the risks of intimate partner homicide as a function of a woman's age.<sup>13</sup> A search of the literature did not produce any studies conducted on intimate partner homicides in the state of Oklahoma.

While extensive literature exists on intimate partner homicide, much less exists on the other types of domestic violence homicide. Several studies have examined the murder of children by family members. Similar to the research on intimate partner homicides, research was conducted to determine risk factors for child homicides in other countries,<sup>14, 15</sup> in addition to those in the United States. Much of the research examines trends in child homicides where the parents are the perpetrators of these crimes,<sup>16</sup> as well as differences in these homicides committed by biological versus stepparents.<sup>17</sup> Additional studies examine the characteristics of child homicides where are significant gaps in the literature on child homicides that are committed by other family members.

Other than the intimate partner and child homicide studies, the literature on domestic violence homicides becomes sparser. A literature search produces no studies examining trends or differences among the many types of domestic violence homicides in the country as a whole, or state-wide. The previously mentioned studies provide insight into some of these homicides individually for the locations covered by the research. However, as crime rates and trends differ from state to state, so do the trends associated with domestic violence homicides. Therefore, the literature is significantly lacking in providing enough information to completely understand the trends and correlations among the types of domestic violence homicides in Oklahoma.

The purpose of this research was to examine the trends and characteristics of domestic violence homicides in the state of Oklahoma from 2010 through 2014. Archived casefile data from a database of the Oklahoma Chief Medical Examiner's Office was used to gather information from domestic violence homicides over this 5-year period. The information collected for each case included the relationship between the victim and the offender, the demographics (age, sex, and race) of the victim and of the offender, the county where the crime occurred, the date of death, drug and/or alcohol use of the victim and of the offender at the time of the death, the number of injuries to the decedent, and the mechanism of injury leading to the death.

Beyond answering the 3 main questions of who, what, and how for each domestic violence homicide, the ultimate goal of this research is to establish whether significant associations exist between mechanism of injury and relationship type. Furthermore, the variables of age, sex, race, and drug/alcohol use will be examined for association with the mechanism of injury in these cases. If associations are found to exist, this information could potentially be used to determine risk factors that could be included in future preventative actions. The literature is filled with risk assessment for intimate partner homicides and exceptionally ignores the hundreds of other victims of domestic violence homicide. This research aims to address the victims from every type of domestic violence homicide to potentially support preventative actions in the state of Oklahoma.

## **CHAPTER II**

#### **REVIEW OF LITERATURE**

A review of the literature on domestic violence homicides indicates that researchers attempted to learn about this devastating social problem for decades. To put prevention measures into place, the elements of the crime needing prevention must be understood. Therefore, many researchers have focused on identifying trends in past domestic violence homicides. Unfortunately, an overwhelming majority of this research focuses on only one segment of domestic violence homicide—intimate partner violence. While involving a large segment of domestic violence homicide, intimate partner violence is not the only type of domestic violence homicide deserving of attention and research.

Furthermore, as violence statistics vary among locations, domestic violence homicides need to be studied on a state-wide level to accurately identify trends for that state. Researchers have conducted such studies in some states, but no such studies exist in the state of Oklahoma. This literature review identifies gaps in the literature on domestic violence homicides and the need for studying these homicides in the state of Oklahoma. The purpose of the present study was to use archival casefile data from the Office of the Chief Medical Examiner (OCME) to examine the characteristics of all types of domestic violence homicides in Oklahoma from a situational perspective.

#### **Definition and Categories of Domestic Violence**

According to the Protection from Domestic Abuse Act within Title 22 of the Oklahoma State Statutes, domestic abuse is defined as any threat of or actual physical harm against a family or household member, including individuals in a current or previous intimate relationship. Thus, contrary to the popular thought that domestic violence only encompasses spousal or partner violence, this type of violence involves many relationship types. Included in the definition of "household" per Title 22 are grandparents, cousins, siblings, and any family relationship in addition to the nuclear family. Furthermore, this definition also includes individuals who live together (roommates) but who may not be family.<sup>8</sup> While the definition includes non-fatal violence, the purpose of this research is to only examine domestic violence homicide.

Before an accurate study of trends within domestic violence homicides can take place, there must be evidence that, as a whole, domestic violence homicides differ from non-domestic homicides. A 2014 study by Juodis et al<sup>9</sup> compared the patterns that exist among domestic homicides with those among non-domestic homicides in Canada. The authors found statistically significant differences between the victims and perpetrators of the two types of homicides. According to their study, domestic homicides were more likely to involve female victims as well as family members.<sup>9</sup> Additionally, children are often involved in domestic violence homicides while they are not directly involved in non-domestic or public violence.<sup>20</sup>

Despite the multiple relationships that exist under domestic violence, little research has been conducted on the violence that occurs between family members outside of intimate partner and child homicides. To thoroughly examine the problem in its entirety, each of these homicides should be examined independently to establish their own trends. This review of the literature establishes the scope of the research conducted on the different types of domestic violence homicides. For the purpose of this research, it is necessary to understand each of these homicides as individual events with distinct trends and patterns.

#### Intimate Partner Homicide

Intimate partner homicide includes the murder of a current or ex-spouse, boyfriend, or girlfriend, non-marital cohabitant, and common law marriage partner.<sup>21,22</sup> As previously stated, the majority of research concerning domestic violence homicides focuses on victims of this type of homicide. In order to assess intimate partner homicides, roughly every study looked at specific factors related to the homicide. The factors addressed included sex, age, race, weapon, relationship length and type, among others. National, international, state-wide, and city-wide data exist for many different locations. However, a literature search returned no studies conducted on intimate partner violence in Oklahoma specifically.

A study using data from the Chicago Women's Health Risk Study between 1995 and 1998 assessed the differences between intimate partner homicides committed by females versus those committed by males. The researchers examined homicides committed by 57 male and 28 female offenders. The results showed that female offenders were statistically more likely than male offenders to have pre-homicide injuries (within the year before the homicide). Additionally, female offenders were more likely than male offenders to use knives to commit their homicides.<sup>11</sup>

Other research has attempted to show the differences between male and female violence as a function of age by examining aggression in marriage through longitudinal studies. A 2005 study showed that younger adults were more prone to violent actions during fights with their spouses when compared to middle-aged and older adults.<sup>23</sup> Additionally, a 2008 study looking at over 50,000 cases of intimate partner homicides in the United States discovered that men were statistically more likely than women to kill their partners by beating them. Moreover, boyfriends and common-law or non-married cohabitant males were more likely to beat their significant others to death than were husbands.<sup>10</sup>

In addition to comparing intimate partner homicides committed by males versus those by females, other studies focus on just one or the other. One study examining over 71,000 cases where women were killed by their husbands in the U.S. found that younger women of reproductive age (younger than 45 years old) were more likely to be killed by a hands-on method than a more passive method, such as by gunfire.<sup>13</sup> The hands-on methods considered were deaths caused by cutting instruments, blunt objects, personal weapons, drowning, and asphyxiation. More specifically, women were found to be killed by stabbing injuries more than the other hands-on methods. Thus, the authors concluded that wives of reproductive age have a higher risk of becoming victims of more violent and personal types of homicides when compared to hands-off methods.<sup>13</sup>

There is much less literature available on men as victims of intimate partner violence. Nonetheless, a Canadian study examined 42 homicides committed by females over a 20-year period. The researchers discovered that similar to female victims of intimate partner homicides, males were more likely to be victims of intimate partner homicide in the 15-to 24-year-old range. The most common weapons used in these homicides were knives (55.2%), followed by firearms (35.7%), strangulation (4.8%), and then blunt objects (2.4%).<sup>24</sup>

Another study of non-U.S. data looked at male victims of non-fatal intimate partner violence in Portugal. Over 11% of 4646 victims from 2007 to 2009 were male. The most common injuries recorded in this study were scratches and blunt force injuries from fists and from blunt instruments. The head was the most common location of these injuries.<sup>25</sup>

Few U.S. studies examine males as intimate partner victims. Reckdenwald and Parker<sup>25</sup> looked at the different influences for male-victim and female-victim intimate partner homicides. The researchers found that in cities with increased available legal services, a significant decrease occurs in the number of both male and female victims.<sup>25</sup> Furthermore, one U.S. study analyzed

the risk of non-fatal intimate partner violence among victims with activity limitations (defined as "long term physical or mental conditions or health problems that reduce the amount or kind of activity that can be done at home, school, work...<sup>26</sup>"). This was the first study to address victims with these limitations. The results concluded that men with activity limitations were more victims of intimate partner violence more often than those without these limitations.<sup>26</sup>

While research does exist on both men and women as victims of intimate partner violence and homicide, there are significant gaps in the literature. No studies address intimate partner violence in Oklahoma specifically through statistical analysis of the state's data. Another factor misrepresented in the literature is intimate partner violence against men in same-sex relationships. Men continue to be the victims of all homicide types more often than females. The possibility exists that many homicides reported as a man murdering his friend are actually intimate partner homicides that have simply been misreported or mischaracterized for various reasons.<sup>27</sup> Furthermore, little to no studies exist that examine men as victims of intimate partner homicide through the lens of autopsy or medicolegal information.

### **Child Homicide**

Violence against children is its own unique phenomenon. Many times this violence is committed in a home where previous domestic violence took place between the parents. Domestic violence in a household where a child is located is typically defined as a lethal risk factor for the child, even if the child is not the main target of the violence.<sup>28</sup>

A large-scale study by the Department of Justice on U.S. homicide trends from 1975 through 2005 noted that for children under the age of 5, the perpetrator was most likely to be a parent. The perpetrators of these homicides were as follows: 31% fathers, 29% mothers, 23% male acquaintances, 7% other relatives, and 3% strangers.<sup>29</sup> Another large-scale study completed in 2013 analyzed over 94 000 cases of child homicides based on arrest report data from the FBI's Supplementary Homicide Reports. The majority of the victims were less than 1 year old. Female offenders were typically younger than male offenders. The most common causes of death were strangulation, beating, asphyxiation, drowning, and defenestration (being thrown out a window). Stepparents were not found to commit these homicides more often than biological parents; however, they were twice as likely to use a firearm to kill the victims. The researchers also discovered that the most common victim/offender relationship reported was biological fathers killing their sons, followed by biological mothers killing their sons.<sup>17</sup>

In 2010, a retrospective study conducted in Kansas examined child abuse homicides that occurred during from 1994 through 2007. Similar to the present study, the researchers examined trends within these homicides to use for future preventative endeavors. The results of the study showed a higher number of female victims, and the majority of the victims were in the 1-to 2-year-old age range. As in the results from the two previously mentioned studies,<sup>29,17</sup> biological fathers were the most likely perpetrators, followed by biological mothers, and the mother's significant other. The most common injury was head trauma, followed closely by asphyxia. A surprising find according to the researchers was the minimal difference between married and unmarried mothers and their risk for abusing their children.<sup>30</sup>

In contrast to the results in the U.S. studies, a study on the murders of 378 children under the age of 12 by stepparents versus biological parents in Canada showed that the majority of these homicides were committed by the biological mother, followed by non-kin, the biological father, the stepfather, and then the stepmother. The younger the child in these cases, the greater the likelihood that the mother was the perpetrator of the homicide.<sup>16</sup> Despite what national statistics report, other local studies, such as one out of Iowa<sup>18</sup> in 1992 and another from central Indiana<sup>19</sup> in 2015, report that non-biologically related males (i.e., the mother's boyfriend) are more likely to commit child abuse as well as child homicide. The research from Iowa examined the "expected abuse" percentages for caregivers determined by the caregiver's total time spent watching the children. The researchers found that despite the mother's boyfriend spending the least amount of time watching the children (compared with nonrelative, grandparent, aunt/uncle, and sibling caregivers), the mother's boyfriend was the caregiver with the highest rates of abuse. The mother's boyfriend was more likely to abuse the child than any other male non-parental caregiver.<sup>18</sup>

Fewer studies exist on child homicides compared to intimate partner homicides, despite the fact that both are considered categories of domestic violence.<sup>8</sup> Prior research illustrates that parents are the typical offenders in these crimes. However, other individuals such as siblings and unrelated males are common offenders as well. Few studies examine the differences in these homicides as committed by the different types of offenders. A literature search provided no such studies pertaining to child homicides committed in Oklahoma. The present research aimed to fill this gap in the literature to address all medicolegal aspects of domestic violence homicides against children in Oklahoma for a 5-year period.

### Parricide

Parricide is defined as the killing of a parent by the parent's child. In research, parricide is often delineated into patricide—the killing of one's father, and matricide—the killing of one's mother.<sup>31</sup> The present research examines the killing of biological parents, in addition to stepparents, as part of the definition of parricide.

A report published in 1998 by Hillbrand et al discussed the common characteristics of the victims and offenders of parricide.<sup>31</sup> The report illustrated that the most common offenders of

these crimes are white, middle-class, male youth and adults. According to the study, patricides outnumber matricides not only in the U.S. but also for most countries where data are available. Fathers were typically killed by children under the age of 30, whereas the average age of a mother's killer ranged from 20 to 50. The report noted some of the factors possibly associated with parricides including past child abuse, mental illness, and anti-social personality. However, none of these are definite causative factors, as many children with these issues do not murder their parents.<sup>31</sup>

Furthermore, a Canadian study compared the differences in parricides committed by adults versus those committed by adolescents.<sup>32</sup> The researchers found significant differences between the two; however, only 12 adolescent homicides were compared with 43 homicides committed by adults. Adolescent offenders were more likely to use a firearm and kill both of their parents in the incident. For adult offenders, they were more likely to only kill one parent, use a weapon other than a firearm, and have a history of severe mental disorder. Additionally, matricides were more likely to be committed by adults whereas patricides were more often committed by adolescents.<sup>32</sup>

Another Canadian study comparing the differences between matricide and patricide used information from 64 cases of parricide between 1990 and 2005 in Quebec, Canada.<sup>33</sup> Of the 56 perpetrators of these crimes, 52 of the offenders were sons. The results of the analysis showed that the most common weapons in matricides were blunt instruments, whereas knives and firearms were more common in patricides. In both types of parricides, the average victim was between 60 and 70 years old. For almost all of these homicides, including those committed by adult children, the offenders and victims lived together.<sup>33</sup>

A retrospective study analyzing 7 parricides committed in Portugal yielded several characteristics associated with these homicides.<sup>34</sup> The researchers discovered that the majority of

these homicides involved males. Of the 7 perpetrators, 6 were male; similarly, 6 of the 7 victims were male. Only 2 of the perpetrators used firearms, while the remaining used sharp weapons. One of the adult perpetrators was diagnosed with schizophrenia, 2 of the perpetrators were clinically depressed, and 3 of the perpetrators had a history of domestic violence in the home with their parents.<sup>34</sup>

#### Siblicide

A term generally reserved for animal populations, siblicide is the act of killing one's sibling. <sup>35</sup> Because this type of homicide is relatively rare compared to the previously mentioned homicides, little research is available on this topic. The majority of the research in this area was conducted over 10 years ago. Furthermore, many of the studies took place in areas outside of the U.S.; however, these are included here for a complete review of the topic.

The Bureau of Justice Statistics issued a report in 1994 concerning the topic of murder in families. According to data on siblicide in the U.S. from 1998, both sisters and brothers were more likely to kill a brother when committing siblicide. Compared to perpetrators of other types of domestic homicides for this time, perpetrators of siblicide were more likely to have had a criminal history prior to the homicide.<sup>36</sup> Another U.S. study reviewed 5 cases of non-fatal child abuse by siblings to determine commonalities within this type of violence.<sup>37</sup> The researchers found that all of the 5 children found to abuse their siblings had been physically abused themselves. Despite the young ages of the children who committed the abuse (5, 4, 12, 12, and 11 years old), these older siblings were responsible for taking care of their younger siblings when the abusive incidents occurred.<sup>37</sup>

Siblicide characteristics were explored and compared across Canada, Great Britain, Japan and Chicago, U.S. in a study published in 2001.<sup>38</sup> Because of the inclusion of information from multiple locations, this study examined over 600 cases of siblicide. In all countries, except for

Japan, the perpetrator of the siblicide was generally younger than the victim. This trend only changes when the siblings involved were juveniles (less than 14 years old). For these cases, the older sibling was more likely to kill the younger sibling. In all four locations, the victim and the perpetrator were more likely to be male. The relationships for the siblicides in Chicago were (in descending order): brother killed brother, sister killed brother, brother killed sister, and sister killed sister.<sup>38</sup>

A final study on siblicide, also conducted in Canada, used data from coroner's files on siblicides that occurred over a 10-year period.<sup>39</sup> The researchers found that most of these cases involved adults, and only 1 involved an adolescent. For 70% of the cases, the cause of death was stabbing. Similar to the above research, the offenders in these cases were mostly male, and the offenders were typically younger than their victims. The results also showed that alcohol played a significant role in these homicides, as the offender was under the influence of alcohol in 60% of these cases.<sup>39</sup>

An attempt has been made to study the characteristics of many of the types of domestic violence homicide. However, although numerous studies have been named thus far, the literature is still lacking to describe additional types of domestic violence homicide that are included in the Title 22 definition.<sup>8</sup> For instance, the literature does not describe homicides among cousins, grandparents and their grandchildren, or even roommates. Furthermore, no studies have attempted to compare the differences among all of the types of domestic violence homicides that fall under the Title 22 definition. An analysis of such data for a specific location would be helpful in characterizing the homicides of that area. The present research aimed to fill this void in the literature by analyzing domestic violence homicides in Oklahoma.

#### **Domestic Violence Statistics**

#### National Data

According to annual reports published by the U.S. Department of Justice, the rate of domestic violence in the U.S. remained unchanged from 2011 to 2014. However, the overall homicide rate has steadily declined since the 1990s.<sup>40-42</sup> Such trends are indicative of the unwavering problem of domestic violence homicides.

In a report published in 2010, the Bureau of Justice Statistics reported on homicide trends in the U.S. from 1976 to 2005.<sup>29</sup> In the 30 years of data considered, 30% of the homicides were committed by intimate partners, 11.8% by other family members, 21.8% by acquaintances, and the remaining by strangers or an unknown individual. Additionally, the report found that homicides committed by family members or intimate partners were less likely to involve firearms than those committed by friends, acquaintances, and strangers.<sup>29</sup>

Another report looking at homicide trends in the U.S. examined those that occurred between 1980 and 2008.<sup>43</sup> For this segment of time, intimate partners committed 16.3% of homicides, other family members committed 12.4% of homicides, strangers committed 21.9% of homicides, and other acquaintances committed 49.4% of homicides. It is questionable, however, with such a large number for "other acquaintances" if ex-intimate partners are considered in this statistic. Just as the prior report stated, domestic violence homicides during this time were less likely to involve guns than the other types of homicides.<sup>43</sup>

#### Oklahoma Data

To better understand the demographics and situational factors associated with domestic violence fatalities, the National Domestic Violence Fatality Review Initiative was established in the 1990s. The group reports on most state and various city data concerning demographics and

trends associated with domestic violence homicides. The Domestic Violence Fatality Review Board (DVFRB) is the local group that works under the directive of the Domestic Violence Fatality Review Initiative. The DVFRB gathers information on domestic violence homicide deaths from medical examiner's offices and law enforcement offices for the purpose of illustrating trends to use for preventative measures.<sup>44</sup>

In the annual Oklahoma DVFRB (ODVFRB) reports, the percentage is noted for each type of domestic violence homicide that occurred in the reported year (except the report for 2012 where this information is excluded).<sup>2-5</sup> The ODVFRB report analyzing domestic violence deaths between 1998 and 2010 states that 44% of the deaths were related to intimate partner violence and that 45% were related to other family violence.<sup>2</sup> The 2011 report noted that intimate partner violence totaled 47% of the domestic violence deaths, while other family violence homicides accounted for 45%.<sup>3</sup> For 2012, intimate partner homicides accounted for 45% of domestic violence totaled 47% of the number of family homicides was not reported.<sup>4</sup> Finally, the most recent report on data from 2013 states that 48% of the homicides were committed by intimate partners and that 46% were committed by family members.<sup>5</sup>

These data illustrate that despite the significant difference in the literature on intimate partner homicide and other family homicides, the latter occur at almost the same rate as the former, at least in the state of Oklahoma. In fact, the ODVFRB report published in 2012 states that for the years 2000, 2005, 2007, 2008, and 2009, other family homicides accounted for a greater percentage of total domestic violence homicides than did intimate partner violence.<sup>3</sup>

Despite this knowledge, the Oklahoma DVFRB reports do not focus on the domestic violence homicides caused by family members. The majority of the data in these reports focus on the intimate partner homicides. Also, the recommendations placed at the end of the reports for law enforcement and policy makers are mostly aimed at preventing intimate partner homicides in

the state. These reports do not include any correlational or statistical significance studies and also do not break down the specifics seen in the different types of domestic violence homicides.

#### **Situational Factors**

Before prevention measures can be put into place to lessen the number of homicides, the type of homicide must be fully understood. While no amount of knowledge may stop homicides completely, an analysis of the characteristics of past homicides is important. Such knowledge helps investigators and prevention personnel to identify commonalities in these crimes.

In 1977, David Luckenbill developed the theory of homicide as a "situated transaction" after examining 70 homicide cases.<sup>45</sup> He determined that homicides are not haphazard events, but are instead transactions where the roles of the two individuals involved intersect to mold a fatal outcome. Aside from homicides of children, Luckenbill stated that most victims participate, to some extent, in the offender's decision to kill them. Therefore, because patterns exist within homicides, researchers can examine the situational factors associated with these homicides to better define them.

#### Demographics, Relationship, and Drug/Alcohol Use

In the discussion above of prior research on the topic of domestic violence homicides, all of the researchers decided upon certain characteristics, or variables, to analyze in their study. Included among these variables were the demographics of the individuals involved, the relationship between the individuals, the weapons used or injuries inflicted, and drug or alcohol use of the individuals. Ruth Lawrence described the need to classify homicides by typologies in a 2004 report analyzing the fatal assault of children. To accomplish this, the researchers must examine the "precipitating factors" which include the variables previously described here.<sup>46</sup>

To best characterize the domestic violence homicides of Oklahoma, the present research included the situational or precipitating factors that previous researchers have used. However, unlike previous research, this study looked at the demographics, relationships, injuries, and drug or alcohol use across all types of domestic violence homicides in Oklahoma.

#### Mechanisms of Injury

A specific characteristic that distinguishes domestic violence from non-domestic violence is the mechanism of injury, which includes the weapon used and the extent of the injuries. A common hypothesis in the literature is that certain methods for committing homicide, such as cutting/stabbing, beating, and strangulation, are considered more intimate as they require closer contact between the perpetrator and the victim.<sup>47</sup>

Klopfstein and Hofner indicate that typical domestic violence injuries in both male and female victims will most often consist of blunt force violence. According to their study, the majority of the injuries in domestic violence cases occur to the head, followed by self-defense injuries to the arms.<sup>20</sup> In contrast, more distant mechanisms of injury seen in homicides are firearm injuries, poisonings, or murder-for-hire situations.

However, a 2012 study conducted by the Violence Policy Center states that the most common weapon used by males to murder women in that year was a firearm. Although taking into account non-domestic homicides as well, the study notes that 62% of the firearm homicides were intimate partner homicides.<sup>48</sup> Additionally, the ODVFRB reports for the years 2001 through 2014 all state that the most common weapon for domestic violence homicides was firearms. However, the DVFRB includes homicides pertaining to love triangles (i.e., a current spouse shoots his wife's ex-spouse), homicides of individuals intervening in domestic violence situations, and suicides of the domestic violence offender.<sup>2-5</sup> The differences in statistics illustrate

that the most common mechanism of injury in domestic violence homicide will change depending on how domestic violence is defined.

Because of a lack of research, the mechanism of injury in all types of domestic violence homicides in Oklahoma is poorly understood. Also, because no studies exist that examine multiple types of domestic violence homicides as singular events, it is unknown how the mechanism of injury varies among them. The goal of the present research was to fill this void by studying the variation in the mechanisms of injury when compared to the demographics of the victim and offender, to the relationship (or type of domestic homicide), and to the drug/alcohol use of the victim and offender.

#### **Summary of Literature Review**

Overall, many gaps exist in the literature for domestic violence homicides. Many gaps are due to the lack of a consistent definition of domestic violence relationships and the one-sided emphasis on intimate partner homicides. National statistics report of trends and characteristics for the country as a whole. However, statistics for Oklahoma reveal that these characteristics may not be relevant on the state-wide level. Understanding the mechanism of injury in domestic violence homicides could be helpful in instances where the offender is unknown. My search of the literature did not return a single report on how the mechanisms of injury differ among types of domestic violence relationships in Oklahoma. A thorough understanding of the trends associated with mechanism of injury on a state-wide scale is necessary for preventative measures and risk assessment. This understanding is most crucial for the victims of family-member domestic violence homicides who are significantly ignored in the literature and in prevention research.

## **CHAPTER III**

#### METHODOLOGY

An examination of domestic violence homicides in Oklahoma from 2010 through 2014 was completed using archived casefile data contained within a database of the Oklahoma Office of the Chief Medical Examiner (OCME). This database, along with police records and news articles, provided information on the cause of death of the decedents, their demographics, the relationship between victim and offender, and the offender's demographics. Each homicide was defined as such by the assigned Forensic Pathologist as a case where one person was killed at the hands of another. Approval from the Institutional Review Board was given before data collection ensued. (See Appendix A). Per the review board's approval, data collected did not include decedent or offender's names for confidentiality purposes.

Data on 368 cases of domestic violence homicide were entered into a spreadsheet and subsequently filtered and summed to obtain trend information. The purpose of the data collection was to obtain sufficient detail about each homicide to identify how the mechanism of injury varied among the different relationship types that fall under the umbrella definition of domestic violence. The details collected for each case were: cause of death, the number of injuries to the victim, relationship between the victim and the offender, demographics of the victim and of the offender (to include age, sex, and race), the county where the homicide occurred, alcohol and/or drug use of the victim and of the offender, and whether the homicide was considered a "murder by proxy" situation. These variables were statistically analyzed to determine their

independence or relatedness to one another.

#### **Data Collection**

Collecting decedent and offender information on the spreadsheet was the first step in this research. Data collection occurred at the Oklahoma Office of the Chief Medical Examiner, Eastern Division. This office is location at 1115 W 17<sup>th</sup> St., Tulsa, Oklahoma 74107. Written permission from the office was obtained before data collection began (See Appendix B). This portion of research began in August 2015 and ended in February 2016, as 1318 case files were searched to obtain the necessary information that could be compared in the data analysis portion of this research. For each case entered onto the spreadsheet, the OCME database was first searched to identify cases of domestic violence homicides, followed by the data collection process for each case.

#### Creating a Workable Spreadsheet

The Excel spreadsheet was the main tool for housing the data in the data collection portion of this research and thus had to be formatted in a particular fashion. An original spreadsheet of all homicide cases in the state of Oklahoma from 2000 to 2014 was obtained from the Eastern OCME office in Tulsa, Oklahoma, in August of 2015. The spreadsheet, extracted from the OCME database by Forensic Pathologist, Dr. Andrea Wiens, contained 12 columns of information for each homicide case. From this original spreadsheet, the information for 5 years of homicides (2010 through 2014) was retained and the rest deleted to obtain a manageable number of casefiles for the research. To ensure the privacy of the victims of these homicides, names of the decedents were removed from the spreadsheet by Dr. Wiens before data collection began.

Columns unnecessary for the purposes of this research were deleted. These columns contained the pathologist's name, secondary causes of death, and administrative codes. The original spreadsheet was further expanded to include columns for: OCME case number, domestic violence classification, date of death, mechanism of death, number of injuries, offender's relation to decedent, offender's and victim's age, offender's and victim's race, offender's and victim's sex, offender and victim's drug/alcohol at the time of the homicide, county of death, and whether the homicide was a murder by proxy situation. The final spreadsheet included these 16 columns of data fields where information was entered about all 368 cases after a search of the OCME database. Figure 1 is an excerpt from the actual spreadsheet used for data collection.

al.	A	В	С	D	E	F	G	н
	Case	DOD	Mechanism of Injury	# of External	Perpetrator's relation	Perp Age	Vic Age	Age Text
1	Number 🚽	v	<b>•</b>	Injuries 🚽	to victim 👻	-	-	
			BLUNT FORCE					
108	1102777	7/15/2011	TRAUMA	8	father	22	15	Month(s)
			BLUNT FORCE					
109	1102913	7/22/2011	TRAUMA	n/a	boyfriend	uk	54	
110	1102993	7/27/2011	FIREARM	7	wife	23	38	
111	1103100	8/2/2011	FIREARM	3	wife	47	50	
			SHARP FORCE					
112	1103103	8/2/2011	TRAUMA	42	parent's bf	32	16	
			BLUNT FORCE					
113	1103138	8/4/2011	TRAUMA	40	son	48	81	
1			SHARP FORCE					
114	1103210	8/8/2011	TRAUMA	17	ex-boyfriend	32	34	

### **Recording Decedent Demographics**

The first step in the data collection process was to enter a case number from the spreadsheet into the "case number search" entry box of the OCME database. The database would then open to display all information pertaining to the decedent associated with that case number. The OCME database contains decedent demographics and place of death, along with additional information concerning the death. The first item recorded on the spreadsheet from the database was the county in Oklahoma where the death occurred. In some instances, the county where the death occurred was marked as "unknown" because the decedent had been moved from the original location of death. For these cases, the spreadsheet was filled in as "uk" to designate an unknown county of death. Second, the race and sex of the decedent were added. The age of the decedent was already included in the original spreadsheet information.

#### **Determining Domestic or Non-Domestic Homicides**

The OCME database also includes a narrative written by the death investigator who attended the scene. The narrative contains information concerning the identity of the decedent, trauma to the decedent, crime scene information, as well as any information provided by law enforcement on the scene. The third step in the data collection process was to read the narrative for the case and identify if the death was a domestic violence homicide or not.

Many times, a case was easily distinguished as non-domestic violence because the narrative would state that the death resulted from gang violence, a police shooting, a robbery, or another non-domestic violence type death. For non-domestic violence homicides, "no" was recorded in the domestic violence classification column for that case number. Once a case was established as non-domestic homicide, no additional information was collected. The only information on the spreadsheet for each non-domestic homicide case is the mechanism of death, the decedent demographic information, and the county of death.

Other narratives identified the case as a domestic violence homicide. Table 1 indicates the relationship types defined as domestic violence for the purpose of this study. For each case identified as a domestic violence homicide according to the narrative, "yes" was recorded in the specified column for that case number. The narrative did not readily identify some cases as domestic or non-domestic homicides. For these cases, an Internet search was performed with the decedent's name to obtain the information from news articles pertaining to arrests or court proceedings.

For all domestic violence homicides, the offender type was recorded in the "Relation to Decedent" column of the spreadsheet. Also at this time, cases were recorded as instances of "murder by proxy." In cases where a domestic violence offender was found to have asked another person to kill the victim, these cases were marked "yes" under the heading "murder by proxy" on the spreadsheet. For instances where both the narrative and the Internet search did not indicate whether the case was domestic or non-domestic violence related, the case was designated as nondomestic.

Table 1. Domestic Violence Relationship by Offender Type						
Child	Current Partner	Ex-Partner	Family	Other	Parent	Parent's SO
Daughter	Boyfriend	Ex-Boyfriend	Brother	Foster parent	Father	Parent's boyfriend
Son	Girlfriend	Ex-Girlfriend	Cousin	In-laws	Mother	Parent's girlfriend
Stepson	Husband	Ex-Husband	Grandfather	Roommate	Stepparent	
	Wife	Ex-Wife	Grandson			
			Nephew			
			Sister			
			Uncle			

#### Identifying Cause of Death

Once a case was defined as a domestic violence homicide, the fourth step was to obtain information from the autopsy report on the cause of death for the decedent. The cause of death was necessary to establish the mechanism of injury used in each homicide case. Seven causes of death were initially identified for the 368 domestic violence homicides over the 5-year period. Causes of death included asphyxia, blunt force trauma, drowning, firearm, sharp force trauma, thermal injuries, and an "other" category which included homicides committed by unknown means, and homicides committed by multiple causes. Because the autopsy reports for the cases where multiple causes of death were noted (i.e. sharp force and firearm injuries) did not indicate which specific act of violence caused the death, these were categorized as "other."

A cause of death was included in the original spreadsheet provided by the medical examiner; however, the language was not always similar. Each autopsy report was reviewed to obtain a cause of death that was consistent with other similar causes. For example, one doctor may have recorded "multiple blunt force trauma to head and extremities" while another wrote

"sepsis from multiple blunt force injuries." To remain consistent in data collection, both causes of death would be written as "blunt force trauma."

#### **Documenting Number of Injuries**

The fifth step in the data collection process was to review the autopsy reports and record the number of injuries sustained by the decedent. The Forensic Pathologists were consistent in their detailing of the number of injuries to the decedent both externally and internally within their autopsy reports. Therefore, the number of injuries could be counted and totaled from each individual autopsy report.

#### **Recording Offender Demographics**

The sixth step in the data collection process was to collect information concerning the offender. Because demographic information of the offender was not in the OCME database, this information was supplemented with an Internet search by the decedent's name. Similar to the process for obtaining the relationship type between victim and offender, the demographic information was found in news articles about police arrests and court proceedings. If the information was found online, the offender's age, race, and sex was recorded in the appropriate columns on the spreadsheet. Typically, this information was found in an article concerning the sentencing of the guilty offender.

#### **Reviewing Toxicology Reports**

The final step in the data collection process was to collect information concerning drug or alcohol use of the victim or offender. The toxicology portion of the OCME database was checked for results from any toxicology testing using decedent samples. If this report indicated drug or alcohol use of the decedent at the time of death, "yes" was marked in the "Drug/Alcohol Use" column of the spreadsheet. Additionally, if the narrative indicated drug or alcohol use then a

"yes" was also marked in the column. In many cases, the police officer at the scene would report to the death investigator that the offender was under the influence of drugs or alcohol at the time of arrest. In instances with no information indicating drug use in the toxicology reports or in the narrative, "unknown" was marked in the "Drug/Alcohol Use" column of the spreadsheet.

#### **Data Analysis**

### **Obtaining Frequencies and Redefining Variables**

The first step of the data analysis was to obtain the frequencies for the variables in the spreadsheet. The frequency tables were created using SAS Version 9.4, and included the frequency of each variable, the percentage of that variable in the total group, the cumulative frequency, and the cumulative percentage. Frequencies were calculated for the mechanism of injury, the offender's relation to the victim, and the race of the perpetrators and victims. The purpose for obtaining the frequencies of the variables was to check that all assumptions had been met for the statistical analysis. Because the data collected were categorical, the data required analysis with a chi-square test through a contingency table. A requirement for chi-square analysis is that no more than 20% of the cells in the table can have expected frequencies of less than 5.<sup>49</sup>

Therefore, the original relationship of the offender to the victim, recorded during the data collection phase, needed to be redefined. The original dataset included 28 total offender types, as can be seen with their respective frequencies in Table 2 below. Offender types were then redefined to encompass all of the 28 relationships within 7 categories. The final 7 categories for offender relationship types included: current partners, ex-partners, parents, children, family members, parent's significant other, and an "other" category which included roommates, in-laws, and distant family members (i.e. cousins, aunts and uncles, nephews and nieces). Table 3 below shows the frequencies for the redefined offender relationship types.

Perp Relation2Victim	Frequency	Percent	Cumulative Frequency	Cumulative Percent
Boyfriend	44	11.96	44	11.96
Brother	21	5.71	65	17.66
Brother-in-law	4	1.09	69	18.75
Cousin	3	0.82	72	19.57
Daughter	3	0.82	75	20.38
Ex-boyfriend	13	3.53	88	23.91
Ex-girlfriend	4	1.09	92	25.00
Ex-husband	11	2.99	103	27.99
Ex-wife	1	0.27	104	28.26
Father	26	7.07	130	35.33
Foster mother	4	1.09	134	36.41
Girlfriend	26	7.07	160	43.48
Grandfather	5	1.36	165	44.84
Grandson	8	2.17	173	47.01
Husband	49	13.32	222	60.33
Mother	16	4.35	238	64.67
Nephew	5	1.36	243	66.03
Other	10	2.72	253	68.75
Parents bf	21	5.71	274	74.46
Parents gf	1	0.27	275	74.73
Roommate	14	3.80	289	78.53
Sister	1	0.27	290	78.80
Son	36	9.78	326	88.59
Son in law	1	0.27	327	88.86
Stepfather	7	1.90	334	90.76
Stepson	7	1.90	341	92.66
Uncle	4	1.09	345	93.75
Wife	23	6.25	368	100.00

PerpRelat	Frequency	Percent	Cumulative Frequency	Cumulative Percent
Child	46	12.50	46	12.50
CurrPartner	142	38.59	188	51.09
ExPartner	29	7.88	217	58.97
Family	47	12.77	264	71.74
Other	33	8.97	297	80.71
Parent	49	13.32	346	94.02
ParentSO	22	5.98	368	100.00

Additionally, the frequencies obtained for the 7 mechanisms of injury did not meet the assumptions of the contingency table analysis. As Table 4 illustrates, drowning deaths only

accounted for three of the mechanisms of injury. Compared to the other mechanisms, thermal injuries and asphyxia also had low frequencies.

Mech Injury	Frequency	Percent	Cumulative Frequency	Cumulative Percent
Asphyxia	23	6.25	23	6.25
BluntFT	85	23.10	108	29.35
Drowning	3	0.82	111	30.16
Firearm	177	48.10	288	78.26
Other	11	2.99	299	81.25
SharpFT	60	16.30	359	97.55
Thermal	9	2.45	368	100.00

Asphyxia, drowning, other, and thermal mechanisms of injury were combined to create a new "other" category to meet the requirements of the contingency table analysis and ensure a stronger statistical result. This change created a total of 4 mechanisms of injury, each with higher frequencies. The 4 redefined classifications of mechanisms of injury used in the analysis portion of the research can be seen below with their frequencies in Table 5.

Table 5. Redefined Classifications of Mechanism of Injury						
MECHINJURY2	Frequency	Percent	Cumulative Frequency	Cumulative Percent		
BluntFT Firearm Other SharpFT	85 177 46 60	23.10 48.10 12.50 16.30	85 262 308 368	23.10 71.20 83.70 100.00		
			(SAS version 9.4, SA	S Institute, Cary NC)		
#### Creating the Contingency Tables

Using SAS Version 9.4, the data collected on the spreadsheet were analyzed by producing 2-way contingency tables to compare the frequencies among the redefined variables for 11 of the 14 analyses. The additional 3 analyses were conducted at a separate time and location, using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 21. A contingency table produces a Pearson's chi-square statistic which is used to test whether two variables are independent from one another. A chi-square statistic with a *p*-value of < 0.05 is considered significant in that the distribution of one of the variables in the contingency table differs when distributed among the other variables in the contingency table.<sup>48</sup>

In total, 14 contingency tables were produced in the data analysis portion of this research, the results of which will be discussed in the "Findings" chapter of this research. The SAS contingency tables compared: mechanism of injury to the perpetrator type, the mechanism of injury to the sex of the perpetrator, the mechanism of injury to the sex of the victim, the mechanism of injury to the use of drugs and/or alcohol, the mechanism of injury and the race of the perpetrator, the mechanism of injury and the race of the victim, the perpetrator, the perpetrator type and the sex of the victim, the perpetrator type and the sex of the victim, the perpetrator type and the race of the victim, the perpetrator type and the race of the victim, the perpetrator type and the race of the victim, the perpetrator type and the race of the victim, the perpetrator type and the race of the victim, the perpetrator type and the race of the victim, the perpetrator type and the race of the victim, the perpetrator type and the race of the victim, the perpetrator type and the race of the victim, the perpetrator type and the race of the perpetrator, and the perpetrator type and the use of drugs and/or alcohol. The SPSS contingency tables compared: the perpetrator's age and the mechanism of injury, the victim's age and the mechanism of injury, and the number of injuries to the decedent and the perpetrator type.

#### **Summary of Methods**

The methods section of this research was divided into the data collection and the data analysis sections. An Excel spreadsheet allowed for the smooth collection of data from the OCME database as well as from the Internet, when necessary. Along with the victim's and offender's demographic information, data on offender type, cause of death, the number of injuries to the decedent, the county where the homicide occurred, and drug and/or alcohol use were collected for each case from the database in a specific order.

After data collection was complete, some of the variables were redefined to obtain a stronger statistical analysis. Offender types and mechanisms of injury were redefined into fewer categories with similar frequencies. The age categories for victims and offenders were also grouped into age ranges with similar frequencies. Additionally, the number of injuries to the decedent were grouped into three categories (1, 2-10, and 10 and above) with similar frequencies.

Once the variables were redefined, data analysis ensued. Because the data were categorical, a chi-square test was conducted on 2-way contingency tables to analyze the independence or interaction between two variables at a time. In total, 11 statistical tests were run in SAS Version 9.4, and 3 statistical tests were run using IBM SPSS Statistics Version 21.

## **CHAPTER IV**

#### FINDINGS

## **Breakdown of Total Results**

#### **Domestic vs. Non-Domestic Homicides**

From January 2010 through December 2014, a total of 1318 homicides occurred throughout the state of Oklahoma. Table 6 below shows the frequencies of domestic and non-domestic homicides for each year of interest. The overall trend showed an increase in all homicides from 2010 to 2011, as well as from 2011 to 2012, as can be seen in Figure 2 below. This increase was followed by a decrease in all homicides from 2012 to 2013 and again from 2013 to 2014.

The non-domestic homicides followed this trend; however, the domestic violence homicides for this time period did not. When the overall homicide rate increased from 2011 to 2012, domestic homicides actually decreased from 81 domestic homicides in 2011 to 65 in 2012. Additionally, when the overall homicide rate increased from 2012 to 2013, domestic homicides increased from 65 to 87.

Table 6. Five Year Frequency of Homicides			
	Domestic Homicides	Non-Domestic Homicides	
2010	58	173	
2011	81	189	
2012	65	226	
2013	87	188	
2014	77	174	
Total:	368	950	

Figure 2. Line Chart Illustration of 5-Year Trend of Homicide Frequencies



As previously mentioned, limited information was collected on non-domestic violence homicides compared to domestic violence homicides. Of the total 1318 homicides in Oklahoma, 368 (or 28%) were determined to be domestic violence homicides, and 950 (or 72%) were either determined to be non-domestic violence homicides or could not be ruled positively as one or the other. For both domestic and non-domestic violence homicides, firearm injuries were the most common causes of death, followed by blunt force trauma, sharp force trauma, and other (which includes asphyxia, thermal injuries, drowning, and undetermined causes). Regardless, the mechanisms were more evenly dispersed in domestic violence homicides than they were in non-domestic homicides. Firearm deaths accounted for 48% of domestic homicides and 71% of non-domestic homicides. The second most common mechanism of death, blunt force trauma, accounted for 23% of domestic homicides but only 11% of non-domestic homicides. Similarly, in 16% of domestic homicides, the mechanism of death was sharp force trauma. But, in non-domestic homicides, sharp force trauma only accounted for 10% of deaths. Finally, 13% of domestic homicides were caused by "other" mechanisms of death (which include asphyxia, drowning, thermal injuries, and combined mechanisms), while only 8% of nondomestic homicides were caused by these mechanisms.

The age of the victims in domestic violence homicides were compared with the ages of the victims in non-domestic homicides. The results can be seen in Table 7 below. In domestic violence homicides, the most common age group for victims was the 50 to 59 year old group. However, the frequencies of victims in the 8 different age groups were fairly similar in that the number of victims ranged from 47 individuals to 74 individuals for all of the age groups except for two. These two groups were 5 to 10 year olds (with 15 individuals) and 11 to 17 year olds (with 12 individuals).

For non-domestic homicides, however, the most common age group where victims fell was the 18 to 29 year old group. Almost 40% of the victims fell within this age group, compared to only 20% of the domestic violence victims in their most common age group (50 to 59 year olds). As the percentages in Table 7 illustrate, the ages of victims in domestic homicides were more evenly dispersed among the 8 age categories than in the non-domestic homicides. Another significant difference between the 2 groups is the number of victims in the youngest age category –those less than 5 years old. These victims represented 14% of the total number victims in the domestic violence homicide group. In the non-domestic violence homicide group, however, the under 5 year old age category was the second smallest category, representing only 1% of the

victims. This difference makes sense when considering the type of violence involved in domestic homicides (family/intimate) versus the violence in non-domestic homicides (public).

<b>Table 7.</b> A Domestic	ges of Victims in Dor Homicides	mestic and Non-
	Domestic Homicides	Non-Domestic Homicides
< 5	50 (14%)	14 (1%)
5-10	15 (4%)	1 (0.1%)
11-17	12 (3%)	36 (4%)
18-29	66 (18%)	373 (39%)
30-39	54 (15%)	230 (24%)
40-49	52 (14%)	135 (14%)
50-59	72 (20%)	105 (11%)
60 +	47 (13%)	52 (5%)

#### **Demographics for Domestic Violence Homicides**

The ages of victims ranged from 0 to 91 years old. The youngest case was a 0 day-old fetus whose pregnant mother was beaten by the baby's father which resulted in the death of the fetus. The oldest victim was a 91 year old man who was killed by his son. In comparison, the ages of the perpetrators ranged from 12 to 97 years old. The youngest perpetrator was a 12 year old boy who killed his 10 year old brother with a firearm. The oldest perpetrator was a 97 year old man who killed his granddaughter, also with a firearm. The largest percentage (30%) of the perpetrators fell into the 18 to 29 age group, and a total of 55% of the perpetrators were between the ages of 18 and 39. The age of the perpetrator was undetermined in 40 of the domestic homicide cases.

The sex distribution between victims and perpetrators in domestic violence homicides differed significantly. Males accounted for 77% (283 total) of the perpetrators during this 5 year

time-period, while females accounted for only 23% (85 total) of the perpetrators. However, the sex of the victims was more evenly balanced. Males were victims in 48% of the cases (175 total) and females were victims just slightly more often in 52% of the cases (193 total). In cases where the perpetrator was a male, the victims were also males 37% of the time (104 total), and were females 63% of the time (179 total). Conversely, when the perpetrator was a female, the victims were males 84% of time (71 total), and were females 16% of the time (14 total). Therefore, the most common type of domestic violence cases (68%, 250 total cases) were between a victim and an offender of opposite genders.

The race of the victims and offenders were also collected, when available. For victims, a race was always indicated in the database; however, the race of the perpetrator was unknown in 31 of the cases. Categories of white, black, and other were used when indicating the race of the individuals. For perpetrators, 69% were white (233 total), 19% were black (63 total), and 12% were another race (41 total). Similarly, for victims, 70% were white (256 total), 16% were black (58 total), and 15% were another race (54 total).

When the perpetrators were white, their victims were also white 93% of the time (216 total). When the perpetrators were black, the victims were also black 75% of the time (47 total). Finally, when the perpetrators were another race, the victims were also of another race 71% of the time (29 total). Thus, in most cases of domestic violence homicide, the violence occurred between two individuals of the same race. Additionally, the victims and perpetrators of these domestic violence homicides are mostly white individuals, which corresponds to the most recent Oklahoma census, conducted in 2014. According to this census, the population of Oklahoma was 75% white, 8% black, and 17% mixed or other races.<sup>50</sup>

#### **Relationship between Victim and Offender**

During data collection, 28 different categories were created to define the offender's relationship with the victim in all 368 cases. In order to analyze these relationships statistically, the 28 categories were combined to create 7 distinct categories. These categories are: current partner, ex-partner, family member, parent, child, and parent's significant other. Table 8 below contains the frequencies for each of the offender types as well as the overall percentage that the offender type represents. Current partners were the most common offenders in all of the domestic violence homicides during this time period. Parents were the second most common offenders, followed closely by family members and children of the victims.

Table 8. Offender Type Frequencies			
Offender Type	Frequency		
Child	46 (13%)		
Current Partner	142 (39%)		
Ex-Partner	29 (8%)		
Family	47 (13%)		
Other	33 (9%)		
Parent	49 (13%)		
Parent's SO*	22 (6%)		
Total	368 (101%)**		
*Parent's significant other **Total over 100% due to rounding			

In addition to being the most common offenders in general, current partners were also the most common offenders in the murder by proxy situations. In a total of 8 of the 368 cases, the offender was found guilty of directly hiring a third-party individual to kill the victim. Current partners accounted for 5 of these cases, ex-partners accounted for 2, and a child of the victim accounted for 1 case. The majority of these crimes (5 total) were committed by female offenders, and the most common mechanism of injury was firearm (6 total), with sharp force trauma used in the other 2 homicides.

#### Drug and/or Alcohol Use by Victim or Offender

Drug or alcohol use by either the victim or offender was determined by reading both the investigator narrative and the toxicology report for each case. A distinction was not made between whether the victim or the offender was the user of the drugs or alcohol. The use was instead recorded as a general situational factor. In 234 cases, drugs or alcohol were either not used by either individual, or the information was not provided by toxicology testing or by police at the scene. However, in 134 cases (approximately 36%) drugs and/or alcohol were used by either victim or offender around the time that the homicide occurred.

#### Analyses of Relationship between Victim and Offender

#### Association between sex and Offender Type

Contingency tables were created using SAS to determine the independence or association between two variables at a time (i.e. a 2-way contingency table). One of the demographic questions to be answered in this analysis was whether the sex of the victim or the offender was significantly associated with the offender type. In other words, what were the most common relationships between male versus female offenders and their victims, or, what were the most common relationships between male versus female victims and their perpetrators? To answer the first question, a contingency table was created to compare the statistical association between the perpetrator's sex and their relation to the victim (see Appendix C). There was a significant association between the offender type and whether they were male or female  $\mathcal{R}^2$  (6) = 37.46, *p* < 0.0001.

Table 9 below shows the frequency (in terms of total number) of offender types for both male and female offenders, in order from the highest frequency to the lowest. While current partners were the most common offender types for both genders, they differ significantly in the frequencies for the subsequent offender types. Male offenders were more likely than female

offenders to be family members of their victims. Furthermore, female offenders were more likely than male offenders to kill their children. However, it should be noted that the overall frequencies are much lower for the female offenders than for their male counterparts.

Table 9. Most Common to Le	ast Common Offender Profiles
Male offenders are:	Female offenders are:
Current Partner, n=93	Current Partner, n=49
Family Member, n=46	Parent of Victim, n=16
Child of Victim, n=43	Other, n=10
Parent of Victim, n=33	Ex-Partner, n=5
Ex-Partner, n=5	Child of Victim, n=3
Other, n=23	Family Member, n=1
Parent's SO*, n=21	Parent's Significant Other, 1
*Parent's significant other	

To answer the second question of whether offenders were more likely to kill victims of one sex over the other, a contingency table was created to compare the association or independence of these 2 variables. This contingency table can be found in Appendix D. A significant association was found between the offender type and the sex of the victim  $\mathcal{R}^2$  (6) = 34.39, *p* < 0.0001. While there were more female victims overall (193) than there were male victims (175), the only 2 offenders who were more likely to kill female victims than male victims were current or ex-partners. For the other 5 relationship types, male victims were more common.

### Association between Race and Offender Type

Race of the victim and the offender were also analyzed to see whether they were associated with the offender type. The race of the victim was found to be not significantly associated with the offender type,  $\chi^2$  (12) = 13.74, p = 0.3176. However, there was a significant relationship between the race of the offender and the offender's relationship to the victim,  $\chi^2$  (12) = 21.87, p = 0.0390. White perpetrators were the most common for all relationship types, which, as mentioned earlier, matches the statistics for the most recent 2014 census for the state of Oklahoma. However, a disproportionate number of black individuals were the offenders in cases where the offender was a child of the victim. These 2 contingency tables can be seen in Appendices E and F, respectively.

#### **Analyses of Mechanism of Injury Characteristics**

## Association between Mechanism of Injury and Offender Characteristics

One of the goals of this research was to identify trends in the type of weapons used by the different offenders in domestic violence homicides. To find these trends, contingency tables were created for chi square analysis which compared the mechanisms of injury to the perpetrator's sex, race, age, and relation to the victim (i.e. offender type). Additionally, the number of injuries to the decedent was compared with the offender type. These contingency tables can be found in Appendices G, H, I, J, and K, respectively.

The first test compared the 4 redefined mechanisms of injury to the sex of the perpetrator. For both males and females, firearms were the most common mechanism of injury, followed by blunt force trauma, sharp force trauma, and all other mechanisms. Thus, the chi-square test showed that there was no significant association between males and females and their weapon of choice for these domestic violence homicides,  $\chi^2(3) = 2.30$ , p = 0.5127.

Additionally, the redefined race categories for offenders were compared to the mechanisms of injury to determine their association. Results showed the only difference between the two variables is that white perpetrators killed their victims with the "other" mechanisms of injury slightly more often than they used sharp force trauma. However, these results are not significant at the 5% level,  $\chi^2$  (6) = 12.25, *p* = 0.0567.

To analyze the association between the mechanism of injury and the offender's age, a chi-square test was run in SPSS with the age groups of 18-29, 30-39, 40-49, 50-59, and 60 plus. The age group of 12-17 was excluded because the expected frequencies for all mechanisms fell below 5. This group was not combined with the 18-29 age group because the latter was the largest age group already. Only 12 of the 368 offenders fell into the 12-17 age group. For blunt force trauma, firearm injuries, and other mechanisms, the majority of perpetrators fell into the 18-29 age group. However, perpetrators who killed their victims with sharp force trauma were more often in the 30-39 age group. Additionally, unlike the other mechanisms, firearm homicides were more evenly dispersed among the 5 age groups. The chi-square test resulted in a significant association between the offender's age and the mechanism of injury,  $\chi^2$  (12) = 30.33, p = 0.002.

A contingency table was created in SAS to test the association between the mechanism of injury and the offender type, using a chi-square statistical test. The results indicated a significant association between the offender type and the mechanism of injury, as the distribution was significantly different for all relations,  $\mathcal{R}^2$  (18) = 71.09, p < 0.0001. For all offender types other than parents and parent's significant others, the most common mechanism of injury was firearm. However, for offenders that were parents of the victims or the significant other of the victim's parent, blunt force trauma was the most common mechanism of injury. The parent's significant other was also the only offender who was more likely to kill the victim with one of the "other" mechanisms of injury (which includes asphyxia, drowning, thermal injuries, or combined mechanisms) than they were to kill the victim with a firearm.

In only 1 case, a parent killed their child with sharp force trauma. In this particular incident, a stepfather killed his adult stepson. Thus, young children were never killed by their parents with sharp force trauma. Table 10 below lists the mechanisms of injury used by the offenders in order from most common to least common. To see the actual frequencies for each category, refer to the contingency table in Appendix J.

	Current	Ex-				Parent's
Child	Partner	Partner	Family	Other	Parent	SO
Firearm	Firearm	Firearm	Firearm	Firearm	Blunt FT	Blunt FT
Sharp FT	Sharp FT	Sharp FT	Blunt FT*	Blunt FT	Firearm	Other
Blunt FT	Other	Blunt FT*	Sharp FT*	Sharp FT	Other	Firearm*
Other	Blunt FT	Other*	Other	Other	Sharp FT	Sharp FT*
Caller	Diantin	Caller	e the	Ctiler	0.10.011	0.10.011
*Indicates tied	frequencies					

Table 40. Mashaniana af laisma fan Damastia Vialan as Offenden Tumas Listed fram Mast

Finally, a chi-square test was run in SPSS to determine the association between the number of injuries to the decedent and the offender type. The results indicate a significant association between the 2 variables,  $\pi^2 = (12) 25.70$ , p = 0.012. The number of injuries were split into 3 categories: 1 injury, 2-10 injuries, and greater than 10 injuries. When the offender was the significant other of the victim's parent, greater than 10 injuries were most commonly seen. Offenders who were parents and ex-partners were the second most likely to cause greater than 10 injuries to their victims. Taking into account the data in Table 10 above, parents and parents' significant others caused these multiple injuries through blunt force trauma. However, ex-partners likely caused these multiple injuries with firearms and sharp force trauma.

#### Association between Mechanism of Injury and Victim Characteristics

Further analysis was conducted to determine if there was an association between the victim's demographics and the mechanism of injury used in their murder. Contingency tables were created to compare the sex, race, and age of the victims to the mechanisms of injury, and subjected to chi-square analysis. Refer to Appendices L, M, and N, respectively, for these contingency tables.

While there was no significant difference in the weapon choice by male and female perpetrators, there was a significant association between the victim's sex and the mechanism of

injury used to kill them,  $\Re^2(3) = 9.96$ , p = 0.0189. Firearm was the most common mechanism used to kill both males and females, followed by blunt force trauma. However, female victims were much more likely than male victims to die of "other" mechanisms (such as asphyxia, drowning, thermal injuries, or combined mechanisms).

The race of the victim was also found to be significantly associated with the mechanism of injury used in the victim's homicide,  $\pi^2(6) = 17.47$ , p = 0.0077. Firearms were the most common mechanisms of injury used to kill black and white victims. However, for the victims of other races, blunt force trauma was the most common mechanism of injury.

Additionally, the ages of victims were compared to the mechanisms of injury using SPSS, to see if any association was present. The age groups used for this analysis were less than 5 years old, 5-17 years, 18-29 years, 30-39 years, 40-49 years, 50-59 years, and 60 plus years. The 5-10 and 11-17 age groups were combined in order to meet the minimum expected frequency count. For all victims 5 years and older, firearm was the most common mechanism of injury. For the victims less than 5 years old, blunt force trauma was the most common, followed by other mechanisms and firearms. There were no cases where a victim under the age of 5 was killed by sharp force trauma. Additionally, in all other age groups besides the youngest (less than 5) and the oldest (60 plus), sharp force trauma was more common than blunt force trauma. Conversely, in these 2 age groups, the victims were more likely to die from blunt force than sharp force trauma. Thus, the chi-square test showed an association between these 2 variables,  $\Re^2$  (18)= 121.94, p < 0.0001.

## Analyses of Drug and/or Alcohol Use

Chi-square tests conducted in SAS questioned the association between drug and/or alcohol use by either the victim or offender and 2 other variables –offender type and mechanism of injury. The two following tests can be found in Appendices O and P, respectively. For 6 of the

7 offender types, a greater number of cases were either negative or unknown for drug or alcohol use than were positive. However, for offenders that were family members of their victims, there was a higher number of cases positive for drug or alcohol use than were unknown or negative. Thus, a significant association between drug/alcohol use and offender type was found,  $\mathcal{R}^2$  (6) = 16.37, p = 0.0119.

Another significant association exists between drug and/or alcohol use of the victim or offender and the mechanism of injury used in the homicide,  $\mathcal{X}^2(3) = 9.30$ , p = 0.0255. The cases involving drug/alcohol use are associated with a significant increase in sharp force trauma homicides. Firearm was still the most common for both known and unknown/negative drug or alcohol use, but sharp force trauma was the second most common in the homicides where drugs and/or alcohol were consumed at the time of the homicide. Conversely, in the unknown/negative cases, blunt force trauma was still the second most common mechanism of injury.

## Locations of Domestic Violence Homicides in Oklahoma

In the state of Oklahoma, there are 77 counties. The OCME database holds the information for the county in which a death occurred, unless the decedent was moved postmortem and their original location of death could not be determined. For 12 of the 368 cases in this study, the county of death was unknown. To determine the counties where the majority of the domestic homicide deaths occurred, the collected data were compared to the 2012 Oklahoma census of residents per county. The 2012 census was used because it lies at the center of the data collected for this research, which is 2010 through 2014. Ranks were determined by the total number of domestic homicide deaths that occurred in each county.

Oklahoma and Tulsa counties are, respectively, the most populous counties in the state. Thus, it is not surprising that they also represented the first and second most common counties of death for domestic violence homicide victims. However, the remaining top counties where these deaths occurred do not fall in line with the population size of the respective county. The top 10 counties can be seen in Table 11 below.

<b>Table 11.</b> Rankings for Counties by Total Population           and Number of Domestic Homicide Deaths				
County	Rank by Population	Rank by # of DV Homicides		
Oklahoma	1	1		
Tulsa	2	2		
Comanche	4	3		
Le Flore	15	4		
Wagoner	8	5		
Washington	14	5		
Cleveland	3	6		
Pottawatomie	9	7		
Muskogee	11	8		
Sequoyah	25	8		
Cherokee	16	9		
Stephens	21	9		
McIntosh	42	9		
Кау	19	10		
Pontotoc	28	10		
Lincoln	30	10		
Garvin	35	10		
Okfuskee	52	10		
*Tied rankings occu number of domestic	rred when the cour c homicide deaths.	ties had the same		

The biggest outlier in the rankings is Okfuskee county. In 2012, Okfuskee county had a population of only 12 346 residents. However, this county had the same number of domestic homicide deaths as Kay, Pontotoc, Lincoln, and Garvin counties whose populations ranged from 27 259 to 45 779 residents in 2012.

## **CHAPTER V**

#### CONCLUSIONS

The purpose of this study was to shed light on trends associated with domestic violence homicides in Oklahoma. Specifically, multiple variables for each of the 368 domestic homicide cases were tested to determine if significant statistical association exists between them. In addition to identifying differences between domestic and non-domestic homicides, this study compared the differences between 7 different types of domestic violence homicides (as broken down by "offender type"). Other variables tested for association included the mechanism of injury, demographics, and drug/alcohol use. The overall goal of this research was to fill in the gaps in the literature where non-intimate partner domestic violence is as thoroughly analyzed as intimate partner homicides. It is imperative to make public any information with the potential to create prevention measures to lessen domestic homicides.

### **Comparison to Results from Prior Research**

As was previously mentioned, other studies analyzed the characteristics of domestic violence homicides in the United States as well as internationally. To understand where Oklahoma falls in comparison to the rest of the country, and other countries, the results of this study can be compared to some of these prior studies. These results were not statistically compared, but the differences or similarities can still be recognized.

#### Intimate Partner Homicide

According to one of the previously mentioned studies, domestic violence homicides committed by females were more likely to involve knives as the weapon of choice.<sup>12</sup> Another study on U.S. data also showed that men were more likely than women to kill their victims by blunt force.<sup>11</sup> The chi-square test on the data from Oklahoma, however, indicates that the sex of the perpetrator had no significant association with the mechanism of injury used in the homicide.

Younger spouses, aged 15-24, were recorded as being more prone to violence, and thus more likely to commit domestic violence in another study.<sup>24</sup> However, in the data from Oklahoma presented here, there were only 37 of 171 cases where the perpetrator was a young (less than 30 years old), current or ex-partner. Additionally, in another study, young women of reproductive age (less than 45 years old) were found to be killed by hands-on methods more often than by firearms.<sup>13</sup> The current data refute this statistic as only 46 of the 105 female victims of intimate partner homicide between the ages of 14 and 45 were killed by hands-on methods (blunt force, sharp force, asphyxia, and "other").

## **Child Homicide**

According to a prior trend analysis on child homicides in the U.S., a perpetrator is statistically most likely to be a biological parent when the child is under the age of 5 years old. Also mentioned in this prior study, fathers were found to be the most common offender, followed by mothers, male acquaintances, and other relatives.<sup>30</sup> Interestingly, Oklahoma deaths do not follow this pattern at all. Of the 50 victims who were under the age of 5, 15 were killed by a parent's significant other, 13 were killed by biological mothers, and 11 were killed by biological fathers. The remaining 11 were killed by other family members. A study on child homicides in Kansas revealed that the majority of child homicide victims were female.<sup>31</sup> The data for

Oklahoma show that for homicides of children under the age of 18, the sex of the victims was evenly split. Of the 77 victims, 39 of them were female and 38 male.

## Parricide

Only a few studies examined cases of parricide, or children killing their parents. In these prior studies, sons were found to be the more common killers of their parents, and typically killed their fathers more often than their mothers.<sup>31,33</sup> The data for Oklahoma follow these trends. A total of 43 sons and stepsons murdered their parents in the 5 year period that this research examined. In 24 of these cases the father was killed, and in 19 cases the mother was killed. Only 3 cases existed where a daughter killed her parent, and in all 3 cases the daughters killed their fathers.

## Siblicide

In the prior studies on siblicides, researchers found that brothers were more often killed than sisters.<sup>36</sup> Also, in cases where the perpetrator was over the age of 14, the victim was typically older than the perpetrator.<sup>38</sup> Furthermore, in about 60% of the siblicide cases in a Canadian study, the offender was found to be under the influence of alcohol.<sup>39</sup> Similarly, in the current study, more brothers were killed than sisters. A total of 22 cases of siblicide occurred over the 5 year period, and in 17 of these cases the victim was a brother. However, the offender was only younger than the victim in 5 of the 15 known cases where a perpetrator was over the age of 14. Finally, like the third study mentioned, 64% (14 of 22) of the siblicide cases in Oklahoma were positive for drug and/or alcohol use by either the victim or the offender.

## Mechanism of Injury

According to 2 studies on crime in the United States, domestic violence homicides are less likely to involve firearms.<sup>29,42</sup> As was previously mentioned, firearms were the most common

mechanism of injury for both domestic and non-domestic homicides in Oklahoma from 2010 through 2014. However, while firearms made up 71% of deaths in non-domestic homicides, they only accounted for 48% of deaths in domestic homicides. Thus, there is a greater dispersion among mechanisms of injury for the domestic violence homicides, even though firearms were the most common. Thus, the trends do fall in line with what the Violence Policy Center<sup>20</sup> and the ODVFB<sup>2-5</sup> stated in their respective reports.

#### Limitations of the Current Study

There were limitations to this study. First, the actual number of total domestic violence homicides for the 5 year period is likely more than 368. Some of the cases in the OCME database had not yet been cleared and a perpetrator could not be determined. There were cases where there was suspicion of domestic homicide, but the suspect was not arrested because of a lack of evidence. Another problem in defining domestic violence homicides is the underrepresentation of homosexual relationships. Likely, there were cases where individuals of the same sex were the victim and perpetrator. These individuals could then recorded by investigators as being friends and would thus not be included in this study. Or, these cases could be recorded as roommate situations and thus do not fall into the current or ex-partner category of domestic violence.

Additionally, there could be an error in the way ex-partners were identified by police or death investigators. The total number of ex-partners in this study was fairly low, despite the research indicating that partners attempting to separate from an abusive significant other are at the highest risk of violence towards them. Thus, the separation between the individuals might not be concrete enough (i.e. an actual filed divorce) to regard the perpetrator as an ex-partner of the victim, making these numbers lower than they should be.

Furthermore, the secondary data recorded in the spreadsheet regarding the offenders in this research were mostly obtained via an Internet search of the homicide. The offender's

demographics and, in some cases, their relationship with the victim was found in newspaper articles or publically-available court documents concerning the case. Validity remains a concern with this type of unverified data. However, when case information was incomplete or unknown, the case was excluded from the study. Access to police records for each case could have solved this limitation, but IRB approval and time allotted for research did not allow for the use of police records.

The applicability of the results of this study to other geographic areas is also limited. This study only examines Oklahoma data. Homicide rates vary across different regions of the country, as does the availability of weapons and cultural views on marriage, relationships, and child-rearing. Oklahoma data may not be representative of other geographic areas or jurisdictions.

A final limitation of this research is the inclusion of cases that might not fit the definition of other researchers. Cases where the death was ruled self-defense are included in this research. Additionally, cases where the offender was found not guilty by reason of insanity are included. These were included because there was no standardized way to effectively remove all of these cases as this information was not always available. Furthermore, these cases by definition of Title 22 of the Oklahoma State Statutes are considered domestic violence homicide, but may fall outside the definitions of other states or researchers.

#### **Future Investigations**

During this research, additional avenues for future studies became apparent. For example, more in-depth research into the backgrounds of the victims and perpetrators involved in these homicides could be helpful in identifying the behavioral patterns associated with these offenders. Such a study could include police records as well as any history with child welfare services (such as Department of Children and Families) for cases of child homicides. An additional avenue

could include studying the cases of murder/suicide. There was a prevalence of such cases in the OCME database, many of which were when women killed their children.

Further research into the prevention centers available to victims of domestic violence in Oklahoma would be greatly beneficial. The current study identifies the areas in the state where domestic violence homicides occur most frequently. The next avenue in protecting future victims would be to identify the areas that are most in need of prevention centers or safe houses. Determining whether these prevention centers and safe houses respond to victims of family violence is also a necessity. As this research highlights, intimate partner violence is not the only type of domestic violence homicide, and the victims of other types of family violence also deserve access to and help from these prevention centers.

## Summary

While this research undoubtedly provides insight into the characteristics of domestic violence homicides in Oklahoma, there is still much to be done to lessen the number of these homicides in the state. The first step, however, is identifying where the problem lies and the situational factors that may precipitate this violence. The cases here are merely identified by their static information in the spreadsheet cells. But it is important to remember that there were 368 lives lost for this research to ensue. The goal of this project was to use the unfortunate details of these victim's murders to aid in the understanding and eventual prevention of future domestic violence homicides.

## REFERENCES

- Harris A. Autopsy report may give insight into Bever family murders, counselor says. News on 6. October 12, 2015. http://www.newson6.com/story/30244775/autopsy-reportmay-give-insight-into-bever-family-murders-councilor-says. Accessed November 21, 2015.
- 2. Oklahoma Domestic Violence Fatality Review Board. *Domestic Violence Homicide in Oklahoma: A Decade in Review, 2001-2011.* Oklahoma City, OK: Oklahoma Office of the Attorney General; 2011.
- 3. Oklahoma Domestic Violence Fatality Review Board. *Domestic Violence Homicide in Oklahoma: A Report of the Domestic Violence Fatality Review Board, 2012.* Oklahoma City, OK: Oklahoma Office of the Attorney General; 2012.
- 4. Oklahoma Domestic Violence Fatality Review Board. *Domestic Violence Homicide in Oklahoma: A Report of the Domestic Violence Fatality Review Board, 2013.* Oklahoma City, OK: Oklahoma Office of the Attorney General; 2013.
- 5. Oklahoma Domestic Violence Fatality Review Board. *Domestic Violence Homicide in Oklahoma: A Report of the Domestic Violence Fatality Review Board, 2014.* Oklahoma City, OK: Oklahoma Office of the Attorney General; 2014.
- Krulewitch CJ. Epidemiology of intimate partner homicide-suicide events among women of childbearing age in Maryland, 1994-2003. *Am J Forensic Med Pathol*. 2009;30(4):362-365.
- Oklahoma State Bureau of Investigation, Office of Criminal Justice Statistics. 2014 uniform crime report. http://www.ok.gov/osbi/documents/Crime%20in%20Oklaho ma%202014.pdf. Accessed November 21, 2015.
- 8. Okla. Stat. tit. 22 O.S. 60.1. http://www.oscn.net/applications/oscn/DeliverDocument. asp?CiteID=242665. Accessed November 19, 2015.
- Juodis M, Starzomski A, Porter S, Woodworth M. A comparison of domestic and nondomestic homicides: further evidence for distinct dynamics and heterogeneity of domestic homicide perpetrators. *J Fam Viol*. 2014;29:299-313.
- 10. Mize KD, Shackelford TK, Shackelford VA. Hands-on killing of intimate partners as a function of sex and relationship status/state. *J Fam Violence*. 2009;24:463-470.

- Swatt ML, He NP. Exploring the differences between male and female intimate partner homicides: revisiting the concept of situated transactions. *Homicide Stud.* 2006;10(4):279-292.
- 12. Powers RA, Kaukinen CE. Trends in intimate partner violence: 1980-2008. *J Interpers Violence*. 2012;27(15):3072-3090.
- Mize KD, Shackelford TK, Weekes-Shackelford VA. Younger women incur excess risk of uxoricide by stabbing and other hands-on killing methods. *Pers Individ Dif.* 2011;50:1120-1125.
- 14. Alsaif D, Alsowayigh K, Alfaraidy M, et al. Child homicide in Cairo from 2006 to 2010: characteristics and trends. *J Forensic Leg Med*. 2012;20:929-932.
- 15. Toro K, Feher S, Farkas K, Dunay G. Homicides against infants, children and adolescents in Budapest (1960-2005). *J Forensic Leg Med*. 2010;17:407-411.
- 16. Harris GT, Hilton NZ, Rice ME, Eke AW. Children killed by genetic parents versus stepparents. *Evol Hum Behav.* 2007;28:85-95.
- 17. Mariano TY, Chan HC, Myers WC. Toward a more holistic understanding of filicide. *Forensic Sci Int.* 2014;236:46-53.
- 18. Margolin L. Child abuse by mother's boyfriends: why the overrepresentation? *Child Abuse Negl*. 1992;16:541-551.
- Obenson K, England C. Time till death study: how soon after "first contact" is a nonbiologically related male likely to kill his partner's child? *J Forensic Leg Med*. 2015;32:84-87.
- Klopfstein U, Hofner MC. Domestic violence. In: Siegel JA, Saukko PJ, eds. Encyclopedia of Forensic Sciences. 2nd ed. Waltham, MA: Elsevier, Ltd; 2013:89-95.
- 21. National Institute of Justice, US Dept of Justice. *Intimate Partner Homicide*. Washington, DC: US Dept of Justice, Office of Justice Programs; 2003. Issue number 250.
- 22. Catalano S, Smith E, Snyder H, Rand, M. *Female Victims of Violence*. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics, US Dept of Justice; 2009.
- 23. Bookwala J, Sobin J, Zdaniuk B. sex and aggression in marital relationships: a life-span perspective. Sex Roles. 2005;52:797-806.
- 24. Bourget D, Gagne P. Women who kill their mates. Behav Sci Law. 2012;30:598-614.
- 25. Carmo R, Grams A, Magalhaes T. Men as victims of intimate partner violence. J *Forensic Leg Med.* 2011;18:355-359.
- 26. Cohen MM, Forte T, Du Mont J, Hyman I, Romans S. Adding insult to injury: intimate partner violence among women and men reporting activity limitations. *Ann Epidemiol*. 2006;16:644-651.

- 27. Willis DG, Porche DJ. Men are also victims of intimate partner violence. *J Assoc Nurses AIDS Care*. 2003;14(2):13-14.
- 28. Jaffe PG, Campbell M, Hamilton LH, Juodis M. Children in danger of domestic homicide. *Child Abuse Negl.* 2012;36:71-74.
- 29. Fox JA, Zawitz MW. *Homicide Trends in the United States*. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics, US Dept of Justice; 2010.
- Kajese TM, Nguyen LT, Pham GQ, Pham VK, Melhorn K, Kallail KJ. Characteristics of child abuse homicides in the state of Kansas from 1994 to 2007. *Child Abuse Negl.* 2011;35:147-154.
- Hillbrand M, Alexandre JW, Young JL, Spitz RT. Parricides: characteristics of offenders and victims, legal factors, and treatment issues. *Aggress Violent Behav*. 1999;4(2):179-190.
- 32. Marleau JD, Auclair N, Millaud F. Comparison of factors associated with parricide in adults and adolescents. *J Fam Viol*. 2006;21:321-325.
- 33. Bourget D, Gagne P, Labelle M. Parricide: a comparison study on matricide versus patricide. *J Am Acad Psychiatry Law.* 2007;35:306-312.
- 34. Dantas S, Santos A, Dias I, Dinis-Oliveira RJ, Magalhaes T. Parricide: a forensic approach. *J Forensic Leg Med*. 2014;22:1-6.
- 35. Psychology Dictionary. Definition of siblicide. http://psychologydictionary.org/siblicide/. Accessed December 8, 2015.
- 36. Dawson JM, Langan PA. *Murder in Families*. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics, US Dept of Justice;1994.
- 37. Green AH. Child abuse by siblings. Child Abuse Negl. 1984;8:311-317.
- Daly M, Wilson M, Salmon CA, Hiraiwa-Hasegawa M, Hasegawa T. Siblicide and seniority. *Homicide Stud.* 2001;5:30-45.
- 39. Bourget D, Gagne P. Fratricide: a forensic psychiatric perspective. *J Am Acad Psychiatry Law.* 2006;34:529-533.
- 40. Truman JL, Langton L, Planty M. *Criminal Victimization, 2012*. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics, US Dept of Justice; 2013.
- 41. Truman JL, Langton L. *Criminal Victimization*, 2013. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics, US Dept of Justice; 2014.
- 42. Truman JL, Langton L. Criminal Victimization, 2014. Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics, US Dept of Justice; 2015.
- 43. Cooper A, Smith EL. *Homicide Trends in the United States, 1980-2008: Annual Rates for 2009 and 2010.* Washington, DC: Bureau of Justice Statistics, US Dept of Justice; 2011.

- 44. National Domestic Violence Fatality Review Initiative. NDVFRI Web site. http://www.ndvfri.org/index.php. Accessed September 25, 2015.
- 45. Luckenbill DF. Criminal homicide as a situated transaction. *Soc Probl.* 1977;25(2):176-186.
- 46. Lawrence R. Understanding fatal assault of children: a typology and explanatory theory. *Child Youth Serv Rev.* 2004;26:837-852.
- 47. Silverman RA, Mukherjee SK. Intimate homicide: an analysis of violent social relationships. *Behav Sci Law*. 1987;5(1):37-47.
- 48. Violence Policy Center. *When Men Murder Women: An Analysis of 2012 Homicide Data*. Washington, DC: Violence Policy Center; 2012.
- 49. Field A. Categorical data. In: Carmichael M, ed. *Discovering statistics using IBM SPSS Statistics*. 4<sup>th</sup> ed. Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications Inc.; 2013:720-759.
- 50. United States Census Bureau. QuickFacts: Oklahoma. https://www.census.gov/quickfacts/table/RHI125214/40#headnote-js-a. Accessed May 20, 2016.

# APPENDICES

# Appendix A

IRB Approval for Non-Human Subject Research

Oklahoma	State Universit	ty Institution	onal Review Board	AUG 2 3
equest for Determina	ation of No	n-Rese	arch or Non-Human Subje	ct
deral regulations and OSU policy	require IRB revie	w of all res	earch involving human subjects. Some c	ategorie: PR has
ablished policies and procedures	to assist in this	determinat	ion.	10 1100
Principal Investigator Informatio	n			
First Name:	Middle In	nitial:	Last Name:	- F
Ashley	E	1.0.11	LaMothe	-
Department/Division: Forensic So	cience	College: Health 5	Oklahoma State University- Center for Iclences	
Campus Address: 1111 W. 17" S	t. Tulsa, OK	Zip+4: 7	4107	1
				-
Campus Phone: 918-582-1972	Fax:	Email: A	shley.mercier@okstate.edu	
Complete if PI does not have c	ampus address:			1
Address:		City:		1
Ciato	Zie	Disease		-
ovale.	c.p.	Phone:		1
	-			-
Faculty Advisor (complete if PI is a	a student, resident,	or fellow)	] NA	
	14 90	197.bit	and the profession of Farmeric Onioneers	-
Faculty Advisor's name: Dr. Rona	ald Thrasher	T the: J	Associate Professor of Forensic Sciences	
Department/Division: Forensic So	iences, Sociology	Colleg	e: Oklahoma State University- Center for	1
Psychology		Health	Sciences	
Campus Address: 1111 W. 17" S	7. Tulsa, OK	Zip+4	74107	1
Come in Phone: 018 561 1415	Ear 048 884	Email	etheashas@alastata.ad.	-
Campus Priorie, 918-561-1415	5729	Email.	T.thrasher@okstate.edu	
	0.20			_
Study Information:				
A Title				
Injury Characteristics in Domes	tic Violence Homi	cides in Okl	ahoma from 2010-2014	
B. Give a brief summary of the pro-	oject. (See instruct	tions for guid	lance)	
For my thesis I plan to assess Oklahoma, I will look at the occ	the differences in t	the mechani is (quinshot	smis of injury for domestic violence nomicide stabbing strangulation, etc.) and how they	sin
differ among the multiple relation	onships that exist i	n domestic	iolence (husband/wife, parent/child, exes, e	tc.).
I will base my analysis in estab	lished homicide th	eories.		
My methodology for obtaining t	his data is through	the Medica	I Examiner's Office database that houses all	
investigative reports, autoosy r	eports, as well as	apriles of na any prior me	dical records that the death investigator	
gathers. When I collect the info	rmation that I need	d, I will not d	olliect personal identifiers as they are	
unnecessary to my research.				
C. Describe the subject population	vitype of data/spec	imens to be	studied. (See instructions for guidance)	
I will be working with archived of	data that contains	decedent in	formation. This data is in the form of autops	Y
reports created by and in the c	ustody of the Offic	e of the Okli	ahoma Chief Medical Examiner.	

Oklahoma Request for Determin	a State University Institutional Review Board ation of Non-Research or Non-Human Subject
<ol> <li>Determination of "Research". One of the following must be "r</li> </ol>	no" to qualify as "non-research":
A. Will the data/specimen(s) be □ No ☑ Yes	obtained in a systematic manner?
B. Will the intent of the data/spec (the results (or conclusions) o internal program, i.e. widely o No X Yes	cimen collection be for the purpose of contributing to generalizable knowledge of the activity are intended to be extended beyond a single individual or an in universally applicable)?
<ol> <li>Determination of "Human Subje A. Does the research involve ob</li> </ol>	ect". taining information about living individuals?
No Yes If no, then research does no If yes, proceed to the follow	ot involve human subjects, no other information is required. ring questions.
All of the following must be "no	o" to qualify as "non-human subject":
B. Does the study involve interverse No  Yes	ention or interaction with a "human subject"?
C. Does the study involve acces	s to identifiable private information?
D. Are data/specimens received □ No ☑ Yes	by the Investigator with identifiable private information?
E. Are the data/specimen(s) cod identified? ⊠ No ☐ Yes If "Yes," is there a wri ☐ No ☐ Yes	ted such that a link exists that could allow the data/specimen(s) to be re-
6. Signatures Signature of PI	LaMoths Date 8/25/15
Signature of Faculty Advisor	R-12 1 Date 8-25-15
Based on the information pro as human subject research an OSU IRB.	vided, the OSU-Stillwater IRB has determined that this project does not qualify s defined in 45 CFR 46.102(d) and (f) and is not subject to oversight by the
Based on the information pro- human subject research and	vided, the OSU-Stillwater IRB has determined that this research does: qualify as submission of an application for review by the IRB is required.
Revision Date: 09/2013	4 of 5

Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board Request for Determination of Non-Research or Non-Human Subject 2 8/25/15 Date Dr. Nu rethar, IRB Chair Revision Date: 09/2013 5 of 5

## **Appendix B**

Letter of Approval to Use OCME Database



1111 West 17th Street Tuka, Okahoma 74107-1898 810-557-1145 Fea: 818-581-5729

August 27, 2015

Andrea Wiens, DO Forensic Pathologist Oklahoma Office of the Chief Medical Examiner 1115 W. 17<sup>th</sup> St. Fulsa, OK 74107

**RE: Student Research** 

Dear Dr. Wiens,

Please accept this letter as information and request for assistance with collecting graduate level research data. The research will support my thesis work within the Oklahoma State University, Center for Health Sciences, School of Forensic Sciences leading to a Master of Science degree in Forensic Science specializing in death scene investigation. I hope to review Medical Examiner reports involving domestic death cases and correlate the weapons used and injuries sustained.

With this letter, I ask for your permission to access the Medical Examiner's database of decedent information. I will not remove any record or files from the Medical Examiner's Office. I will neither collect nor record any personal identifiable information from any individual file. My research is supervised by OSU Associate Professor Ronald Thrasher, Ph.D. and will not begin without review from the Oklahoma State University Institutional Review Board (IRB Board).

Thank you for considering this request and please contact myself or Dr. Thrasher with any questions or concerns.

Respectfully,

Ashley LaMothe

Graduate Student Oklahoma State University

Ronald R. Thrasher, Ph.D. Director, Forensic Psychology Program Oklahoma State University

## Appendix C

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Perpetrator's sex and Perpetrator Type (SAS)

PerpRelat	PerpSex	c	
Frequency Row Pct Col Pct	, ,f	, m	, Total
Child	, 3 , 6.52 , 3.53	, 43 , 93.48 , 15.19	, 46
CurrPartner	, 49 , 34.51 , 57.65	, 93 , 65.49 , 32.86	, 142 ,
ExPartner	, 5 , 17.24 , 5.88	, 24 , 82.76 , 8.48	, 29 ,
Family	, 1 , 2.13 , 1.18	, 46 , 97.87 , 16.25	, 47 ,
Other	, 10 , 30.30 , 11.76	, 23 , 69.70 , 8.13	, 33 ,
Parent	, 16 , 32.65 , 18.82	, 33 , 67.35 , 11.66	, 49 ,
ParentSO	, 1 , 4.55 , 1.18	, 21 , 95.45 , 7.42	, 22 ,
Total	85	283	368

Table of PerpRelat by PerpSex

Statistics for Table of PerpRelat by PerpSex

Statistic	DF	Value	Prob
Chi-Square	6	37.4635	<.0001

# Appendix D

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Victim's sex and Perpetrator Type (SAS)

PerpRelat	VicSex		
Frequency Row Pct Col Pct	, ,f	, m	, Total
Child	, 19 , 41.30 , 9.84	, 27 , 58.70 , 15.43	, 46 ,
CurrPartner	, 91 , 64.08 , 47.15	, 51 , 35.92 , 29.14	, 142 ,
ExPartner	, 24 , 82.76 , 12.44	, 5 , 17.24 , 2.86	, 29 ,
Family	, 18 , 38.30 , 9.33	, 29 , 61.70 , 16.57	, 47 ,
Other	, 27.27 , 4.66	, 24 , 72.73 , 13.71	, 33 ,
Parent	, 22 , 44.90 , 11.40	, 27 , 55.10 , 15.43	, 49 ,
ParentSO	, 10 , 45.45 , 5.18	, 12 , 54.55 , 6.86	, 22 ,
Total	193	175	- 368

Table of PerpRelat by VicSex

Statistics for Table of PerpRelat by VicSex

Statistic	DF	Value	Prob
Chi-Square	6	34.3937	<.0001

## Appendix E

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Victim's Race and Perpetrator Type (SAS)

PerpRelat	VICRACE	22		
Frequency Row Pct Col Pct	, ,Other	,black	,white	, Total
Child	, 2 , 4.35 , 3.70	, 6 , 13.04 , 10.34	, 38 , 82.61 , 14.84	, 46 ,
CurrPartner	, 22 , 15.49 , 40.74	, 29 , 20.42 , 50.00	, 91 , 64.08 , 35.55	, 142 ,
ExPartner	, 5 , 17.24 , 9.26	, 3 , 10.34 , 5.17	, 21 , 72.41 , 8.20	, 29 ,
Family	, 7 , 14.89 , 12.96	, 6 , 12.77 , 10.34	, 34 , 72.34 , 13.28	, 47 ,
Other	, 3 , 9.09 , 5.56	, 4 , 12.12 , 6.90	, 26 , 78.79 , 10.16	, 33 ,
Parent	, 9 , 18.37 , 16.67	, 6 , 12.24 , 10.34	, 34 , 69.39 , 13.28	, 49 ,
ParentSO	, 6 , 27.27 , 11.11	, 4 , 18.18 , 6.90	, 12 , 54.55 , 4.69	, 22 ,
Total	54	58	256	368

Table of PerpRelat by VICRACE2

Statistics for Table of PerpRelat by VICRACE2

Statistic	DF	Value	Prob
Chi-Square	12	13.7409	0.3176

## Appendix F

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Perpetrator's Race and Perpetrator Type (SAS)

PerpRelat	PERPRAC	CE2		
Frequency Row Pct Col Pct	, ,Other	,black	,white	, Total
Child	, 3 , 6.52 , 4.17	, 6 , 13.04 , 9.52	, 37 , 80.43 , 15.88	, 46 ,
CurrPartner	, 31 , 21.83 , 43.06	, 30 , 21.13 , 47.62	, 81 , 57.04 , 34.76	, 142 ,
ExPartner	, 10 , 34.48 , 13.89	, 6 , 20.69 , 9.52	, 13 , 44.83 , 5.58	, 29 ,
Family	, 12.77 , 8.33	, 12.77 , 9.52	, 35 , 74.47 , 15.02	, 47 ,
Other	, 6 , 18.18 , 8.33	, 4 , 12.12 , 6.35	, 23 , 69.70 , 9.87	, 33 ,
Parent	, 8 , 16.33 , 11.11	, 8 , 16.33 , 12.70	, 33 , 67.35 , 14.16	, 49 ,
ParentS0	, 8 , 36.36 , 11.11	, 3 , 13.64 , 4.76	, 11 , 50.00 , 4.72	, 22 ,
Total	72	63	233	. 368

Table of PerpRelat by PERPRACE2

Statistics for Table of PerpRelat by PERPRACE2

Statistic	DF	Value	Prob
Chi-Square	12	21.8745	0.0390

## Appendix G

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Mechanism of Injury and Perpetrator's sex (SAS)

MECHINJU	RY2	PerpSex				
Frequenc Row Pct Col Pct	Y, ,f		, m		,	Total
BluntFT	, , ,	23 27.06 27.06	, , ,	62 72.94 21.91	, , ,	85
Firearm	, , ,	35 19.77 41.18	, , ,	142 80.23 50.18	, , ,	177
Other	, , ,	11 23.91 12.94	, , ,	35 76.09 12.37	, , ,	46
SharpFT	, , ,	16 26.67 18.82	, , ,	44 73.33 15.55	, , ,	60
Total		85		283		368

Table of MECHINJURY2 by PerpSex

Statistics for Table of MECHINJURY2 by PerpSex

Statistic	DF	Value	Prob
Chi-Square	3	2.2991	0.5127

## Appendix H

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Mechanism of Injury and Perpetrator's Race (SAS)

MECHINJU	RY2 PI	ERPRACE2		
Frequenc Row Pct Col Pct	y, , ,Other	,black	,white	, Total
BluntFT	, 18 , 21.18 , 25.00	, 21 , 24.71 , 33.33	, 46 , 54.12 , 19.74	- , 85 ,
Firearm	, 33 , 18.64 , 45.83	, 24 , 13.56 , 38.10	, 120 , 67.80 , 51.50	, 177 ,
Other	, 5 , 10.87 , 6.94	, 6 , 13.04 , 9.52	, 35 , 76.09 , 15.02	, 46 ,
SharpFT	, 16 , 26.67 , 22.22	, 12 , 20.00 , 19.05	, 32 , 53.33 , 13.73	, 60 ,
Total	72	63	233	368

## Table of MECHINJURY2 by PERPRACE2

Statistics for Table of MECHINJURY2 by PERPRACE2

Statistic	DF	Value	Prob
Chi-Square	6	12.2455	0.0567
## Appendix I

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Mechanism of Injury and Perpetrator's Age (SPSS)

Age of Perpetrator * Mechanism of Injury Crosstabulation							
				Mechanis	m of Injury		Total
			BluntFT	Firearm	Other	SharpFT	
		Count	33	38	12	15	98
	18-29	Expected Count	20.8	46.8	14.0	16.4	98.0
		% of Total	10.4%	12.0%	3.8%	4.7%	31.0%
		Count	16	33	12	22	83
	30-39	Expected Count	17.6	39.7	11.8	13.9	83.0
		% of Total	5.1%	10.4%	3.8%	7.0%	26.3%
		Count	10	32	12	7	61
Age of Perpetrator	40-49	Expected Count	12.9	29.1	8.7	10.2	61.0
		% of Total	3.2%	10.1%	3.8%	2.2%	19.3%
		Count	5	27	7	7	46
	50-59	Expected Count	9.8	22.0	6.6	7.7	46.0
		% of Total	1.6%	8.5%	2.2%	2.2%	14.6%
		Count	3	21	2	2	28
	60+	Expected Count	5.9	13.4	4.0	4.7	28.0
		% of Total	0.9%	6.6%	0.6%	0.6%	8.9%
		Count	67	151	45	53	316
Total		Expected Count	67.0	151.0	45.0	53.0	316.0
		% of Total	21.2%	47.8%	14.2%	16.8%	100.0%

		- 5	<b>D</b>				- 5		0	
Q	je	στ	Per	petrator	^ mec	nanısm	στ	injury	Crosstal	Julation

Chi-So	uare	Tests
0		

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-
			sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	30.327ª	12	.002
Likelihood Ratio	29.527	12	.003
N of Valid Cases	316		

a. 2 cells (10.0%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 3.99.

### Appendix J

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Mechanism of Injury and Perpetrator Type (SAS)

MECHINJU	RY2	Pe	erpRelat	;											
Frequenc Row Pct Col Pct	у, ,с	hild	,CurrPa	irt,	ExPartne	,Fami	ly	,0t	her	,Pare	nt	,Par	entSO	,	Total
BluntFT	, , ,	9 10.59 19.57	, 1 , 17.6 , 10.5	.5 , 55 ,	3 3.53 10.34	, 9 , 17	8 .41 .02	, , ,	11 12.94 33.33	, 29 , 51	25 .41 .02	, 1 , 6	14 .6.47 53.64	, ,	85
Firearm	, , ,	22 12.43 47.83	, 45.7 , 57.0	1, 6, 4,	16 9.04 55.17	, 15 , 57	27 .25 .45	, , ,	13 7.34 39.39	, <u>9</u> , 32	16 .04 .65	, , ,	2 1.13 9.09	, , ,	177
Other	, , ,	5 10.87 10.87	, 43.4 , 14.0	, 0 , 8 , 8	3 6.52 10.34	, 8 , 8	4 .70 .51	, , ,	3 6.52 9.09	, 15 , 14	7 .22 .29	, , 1	4 8.70 .8.18	, , ,	46
SharpFT	, , ,	10 16.67 21.74	, 43.3 , 18.3	6, 3, 1,	7 11.67 24.14	, 13 , 17	8 .33 .02	, , ,	6 10.00 18.18	, 1 , 2	1 .67 .04	, , ,	2 3.33 9.09	, , ,	60
Total		46	14	2	29		47		33		49		22		368

#### Table of MECHINJURY2 by PerpRelat

Statistics for Table of MECHINJURY2 by PerpRelat

Statistic	DF	Value	Prob
Chi-Square	18	71.0851	<.0001

# Appendix K

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Number of Injuries and Perpetrator Type (SPSS)

Number of Injuries * Offender Type Crosstabulation										
						Offender Type				Total
			Child	CurrPartner	ExPartner	Family	Other	Parent	ParentSO	
		Count	10	54	5	15	13	12	2	111
		Expected Count	11.0	44.5	9.2	15.4	13.6	10.3	7.0	111.0
	1	% within Number of Injuries	9.0%	48.6%	4.5%	13.5%	11.7%	10.8%	1.8%	100.0%
		% within Offender Type	33.3%	44.6%	20.0%	35.7%	35.1%	42.9%	10.5%	36.8%
Number of Injuries		% of Total	3.3%	17.9%	1.7%	5.0%	4.3%	4.0%	0.7%	36.8%
		Count	13	49	13	15	13	7	6	116
		Expected Count	11.5	46.5	9.6	16.1	14.2	10.8	7.3	116.0
	2-10	% within Number of Injuries	11.2%	42.2%	11.2%	12.9%	11.2%	6.0%	5.2%	100.0%
		% within Offender Type	43.3%	40.5%	52.0%	35.7%	35.1%	25.0%	31.6%	38.4%
		% of Total	4.3%	16.2%	4.3%	5.0%	4.3%	2.3%	2.0%	38.4%
		Count	7	18	7	12	11	9	11	75
		Expected Count	7.5	30.0	6.2	10.4	9.2	7.0	4.7	75.0
	>10	% within Number of Injuries	9.3%	24.0%	9.3%	16.0%	14.7%	12.0%	14.7%	100.0%
		% within Offender Type	23.3%	14.9%	28.0%	28.6%	29.7%	32.1%	57.9%	24.8%
		% of Total	2.3%	6.0%	2.3%	4.0%	3.6%	3.0%	3.6%	24.8%
		Count	30	121	25	42	37	28	19	302
		Expected Count	30.0	121.0	25.0	42.0	37.0	28.0	19.0	302.0
Total		% within Number of Injuries	9.9%	40.1%	8.3%	13.9%	12.3%	9.3%	6.3%	100.0%
		% within Offender Type	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%	100.0%
		% of Total	9.9%	40.1%	8.3%	13.9%	12.3%	9.3%	6.3%	100.0%

Chi-Square Tests

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-
			sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	25.695ª	12	.012
Likelihood Ratio	25.846	12	.011
N of Valid Cases	302		

a. 1 cells (4.8%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum

## Appendix L

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Mechanism of Injury and Victim's sex (SAS)

MECHINJU	Vi					
Frequenc Row Pct Col Pct	Y, , ,f		, m		<i>.</i>	Total
BluntFT	, , ,	40 47.06 20.73	, , ,	45 52.94 25.71	, , ,	85
Firearm	, , ,	89 50.28 46.11	, , ,	88 49.72 50.29	, , ,	177
Other	, , ,	34 73.91 17.62	, , ,	12 26.09 6.86	, , ,	46
SharpFT	, , ,	30 50.00 15.54	, , ,	30 50.00 17.14	, , ,	60
Total		193		175		368

Table of MECHINJURY2 by VicSex

Statistics for Table of MECHINJURY2 by VicSex

Statistic	DF	Value	Prob
Chi-Square	3	9.9649	0.0189

# Appendix M

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Mechanism of Injury and Victim's Race (SAS)

Frequenc Row Pct	Y,	black	white	Total
	-^	,DIACK	, whitee	, 100ai
BluntFT	, 16 , 18.82 , 29.63	, 18 , 21.18 , 31.03	, 51 , 60.00 , 19.92	, 85 ,
Firearm	, 15 , 8.47 , 27.78	, 24 , 13.56 , 41.38	, 138 , 77.97 , 53.91	, 177 ,
Other	, 10 , 21.74 , 18.52	, 4 , 8.70 , 6.90	, 32 , 69.57 , 12.50	, 46 ,
SharpFT	, 13 , 21.67 , 24.07	, 12 , 20.00 , 20.69	, 35 , 58.33 , 13.67	, 60 ,
Total	54	58	256	368

Table of MECHINJURY2 by VICRACE2

MECHINJURY2 VICRACE2

Statistics for Table of MECHINJURY2 by VICRACE2

Statistic	DF	Value	Prob
Chi-Square	6	17.4662	0.0077

# Appendix N

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Mechanism of Injury and Victim's Age (SPSS)

		Age of frounds incontain	5	Mechanism of Injury			
			BluntFT	Firearm	Other	SharpFT	
		Count	40	3	7	0	50
	<5	Expected Count	11.5	24.0	6.3	8.2	50.0
		% of Total	10.9%	0.8%	1.9%	0.0%	13.6%
		Count	4	12	6	5	27
	5-17	Expected Count	6.2	13.0	3.4	4.4	27.0
		% of Total	1.1%	3.3%	1.6%	1.4%	7.3%
		Count	8	38	8	12	66
	18-29	Expected Count	15.2	31.7	8.3	10.8	66.0
		% of Total	2.2%	10.3%	2.2%	3.3%	17.9%
		Count	8	30	5	11	54
Age of Victims	30-39	Expected Count	12.5	26.0	6.8	8.8	54.0
		% of Total	2.2%	8.2%	1.4%	3.0%	14.7%
		Count	4	29	9	10	52
	40-49	Expected Count	12.0	25.0	6.5	8.5	52.0
		% of Total	1.1%	7.9%	2.4%	2.7%	14.1%
		Count	10	43	5	14	72
	50-59	Expected Count	16.6	34.6	9.0	11.7	72.0
		% of Total	2.7%	11.7%	1.4%	3.8%	19.6%
		Count	11	22	6	8	47
	60+	Expected Count	10.9	22.6	5.9	7.7	47.0
		% of Total	3.0%	6.0%	1.6%	2.2%	12.8%
		Count	85	177	46	60	368
Total		Expected Count	85.0	177.0	46.0	60.0	368.0
		% of Total	23.1%	48.1%	12.5%	16.3%	100.0%

Age of Victims \* Mechanism of Injury Crosstabulation

#### Chi-Square Tests

	Value	df	Asymp. Sig. (2-
			sided)
Pearson Chi-Square	121.940ª	18	.000
Likelihood Ratio	116.605	18	.000
N of Valid Cases	368		

a. 2 cells (7.1%) have expected count less than 5. The minimum expected count is 3.38.

## Appendix O

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Drug/Alcohol Use and Perpetrator Type (SAS)

PerpRelat	DrugAl	cUse	
Frequency Row Pct Col Pct	, ,uk	,yes	, Total
Child	, 28 , 60.87 , 11.97	, 18 , 39.13 , 13.43	, 46
CurrPartner	, 86 , 60.56 , 36.75	, 56 , 39.44 , 41.79	, 142
ExPartner	, 22 , 75.86 , 9.40	, 7 , 24.14 , 5.22	, 29 ,
Family	, 22 , 46.81 , 9.40	, 25 , 53.19 , 18.66	, 47 ,
Other	, 20 , 60.61 , 8.55	, 13 , 39.39 , 9.70	, 33 ,
Parent	, 37 , 75.51 , 15.81	, 12 , 24.49 , 8.96	, 49 ,
ParentSO	, 19 , 86.36 , 8.12	, 3 , 13.64 , 2.24	, 22 ,
Total	234	134	368

Table of PerpRelat by DrugAlcUse

Statistics for Table of PerpRelat by DrugAlcUse

Statistic	DF	Value	Prob
Chi-Square	6	16.3735	0.0119

#### **Appendix P**

Contingency Table and Chi-Square Test for Drug/Alcohol Use and Mechanism of Injury

Table of MECHINJURY2 by DrugAlcUse MECHINJURY2 DrugAlcUse Frequency, Row Pct , Col Pct ,uk ,yes , Total BluntFT , 63 , 22 , , 74.12 , 25.88 , , 26.92 , 16.42 , 85 Firearm , 110 , 67 , 177 , 62.15 , 37.85 , , 47.01 , 50.00 , \_\_\_\_^ Other , 31, 15, 46 , 67.39 , 32.61 , , 13.25 , 11.19 , SharpFT , 30 , 30 , , 50.00 , 50.00 , 30, 60 , 12.82 , 22.39 , Total 234 134 368

Statistics for Table of MECHINJURY2 by DrugAlcUse

Statistic	DF	Value	Prob
Chi-Square	3	9.3009	0.0255

#### VITA

#### Ashley E. LaMothe

#### Candidate for the Degree of

#### Master of Science

#### Thesis: INTIMATE AND FAMILIAL MURDER: EXAMINING TRENDS IN DOMESTIC VIOLENCE HOMICIDES IN OKLAHOMA FROM 2010-2014

Major Field: Forensic Sciences

Biographical:

Education:

Completed the requirements for the Master of Science in Forensic Science at Oklahoma State University, Tulsa, Oklahoma in July, 2016.

Completed the requirements for the Bachelor of Arts in Anthropology at The University of West Florida, Pensacola, Florida in May, 2013.

Professional Memberships:

Phi Kappa Phi